

## UNIVERSIDAD SAN SEBASTIÁN FACULTAD DE MEDICINA Y CIENCIA CENTRO DE BIOLOGÍA CELULAR Y BIOMEDICINA

# DECODING ADAPTIVE CELLULAR MECHANISMS OF

## **CISPLATIN CHEMORESISTANCE IN OVARIAN CANCER CELLS**

Thesis presented to obtain the academic degree of

Doctor in Cell Biology and Biomedicine

Tutor: Patricia V. Burgos Hitschfeld PhD. Co-Tutor: Manuel Varas-Godoy PhD. Student: Cristóbal Andrés Cerda Troncoso MSc.

## © Cristóbal Andrés Cerda Troncoso

The partial or total reproduction of this work, for academic purposes, by any form, means, or procedure, is authorized as a condition of including the bibliographic citation of the document.

> Santiago, Chile 2022

#### **EVALUACIÓN**

En <u>Santiago</u>, el <u>04</u> de <u>Abril</u> de <u>2022</u> los abajo firmantes dejan constancia que el (la) estudiante <u>Cristóbal Andrés Cerda Troncoso</u> del programa de <u>Doctorado en</u> <u>Biología Celular y Biomedicina</u> ha aprobado la tesis para optar al grado de <u>Doctor</u> <u>en Ciencias</u>, con una nota de <u>40</u>.

Tutores:

Dra. Patricia V. Burgos H. Universidad San Sebastián

Comisión Evaluadora:

Dr. Alfonso González Universidad San Sebastián

uchio 20-

Dra. Andrea Soza Universidad San Sebastián

Dr. Manuel Varas-Godoy. Universidad San Sebastián

the filt

Dr. Mauricio Budini Universidad de Chile

Dr. Matías Ostrowski Universidad de Buenos Aires

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by funds of Agencia Nacional de Investigación y Desarrollo of chilean government (FONDECYT #1171649, PIA #ACT-172066 and Basal #ACE210009 to Patricia Burgos PhD., and FONDECYT #1190928 to Manuel Varas-Godoy PhD.).

Cristóbal Cerda Troncoso was financed by the scholarship for students in doctoral programs of Vicerrectoría de Investigación y Doctorados of Universidad San Sebastián, Chile.

Become the laboratory by standing still, or sitting on the cushion provided. Proceed to do nothing. Relax your posture and attitude, and observe, with a light touch, whatever comes into experience. That's the experiment. Note the specific manifestation of mind as if they were data. Repeat as many times as you can this gesture of full presence, of mindfulness. The laboratory is now portable and you may carry it with you wherever you go. Keep track of your findings!

The Portable Laboratory. Francisco J. Varela.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Este trabajo no hubiera sido posible de hacer sin el apoyo de mis tutores, la Profe Paty y Manuel. Por su capacidad de gestión que hizo posible el eficiente desarrollo de la investigación, y por encauzar las decisiones para llegar a puerto. Agradecer a mis partners de Lab Elo y Vivi que me ayudaron no solamente en experimentos, sino que también en el apoyo diario de continuar cuando a veces las cosas no resultaban. Y a todos mis compañeros de Lab, Nico, Laura, Omar y Gaby, que siempre estuvieron disponibles cuando era necesario discutir resultados, en sus criticas constructivas.

Así también, agradecer a los integrantes del Lab de Manuel, que siempre estuvieron disponibles cuando requería de su ayuda, y por todos sus aportes en la discusión de mi trabajo. Especialmente, agradezco a Belén por las discusiones y su apoyo en experimentos y desarrollo de herramientas en el transcurso de la tesis doctoral; y a Pancha por su colaboración y ayuda. A los fundadores, que siempre estuvimos pendiente de como íbamos avanzando y por estar disponible ante cualquier duda.

Agradecer a los maestros Alexis y Adriana, que a pesar de la distancia siempre estaban disponibles para conversar y en aconsejarme en aspectos investigativos y profesionales. A mis amigos de la U, Karina, Maha, Gonzalo, por juntarnos tarde mal o nunca porque ya no estamos en edad. A mi amiga Amaira, por sus recomendaciones turísticas en Europa, por nuestras conversaciones eternas de cuando en vez y las juntas a tomar té o café. A Fabi y la Soledad, por siempre estar presentes, su apoyo constante y risas detonadas.

Agradezco a mis padres los cuales me regaloneaban cuando podían y por los pequeños viajes. A mi hermana, por su ayuda en el inglés y por guardar secretos de hermanos. A quien fue mi compañera día a día durante el doctorado, Cami, mi soporte emocional, quién me ayudo a que el desarrollo de la tesis se hiciera más simple, por su apoyo incondicional y por comprender mi ausencia.

Por último, y no menos importante, quiero agradecerme a mi, por creer en mi, por hacer todo este trabajo duro, por no tener días libres y por nunca renunciar.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

EVALUACIÓN	III			
FUNDING	IV			
DICATORY	V			
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSVI				
TABLE OF CONTENTS				
LIST OF FIGURESIX				
RESUMEN 1				
ABSTRACT	3			
1. INTRODUCTION	5			
1.1 OVARIAN CANCER AND TREATMENT	5			
1.1.1 Cancer development	5			
1.1.2 Ovarian Cancer	6			
1.1.3 Cisplatin Treatment for Ovarian Cancer	7			
1.2 CHEMORESISTANCE TO CDDP IN OVARIAN CANCER	8			
1.2.1 Adaptive cellular processes	9			
1.3 EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES IN CHEMORESISTANCE	10			
1.3.1 Biogenesis of exosome in endosomes	11			
1.3.2 RAB-GTPases and exosome secretion	14			
1.4 LYSOSOME STATUS AND AUTOPHAGOSOMES: NEW KEYS IN REGUL	ATION OF EXOSOME			
SECRETION	15			
2 HYPOTHESIS	17			
3 OBJECTIVE				
3.1 SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES	18			
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	19			
4.1 MATERIALS	19			
4.1.1 Biological Material	19			
4.1.2 Chemical Reagents	19			
4.1.3 Antibodies	20			
4.1.4 Plasmids and oligos	21 VII			

	4.2 N	IETHODS	22	
	4.2.1	Cell culture	22	
	4.2.2	Bacterial transformation and plasmid DNA isolation	23	
	4.2.3	Generation of stable Knockdown cell lines through shRNA Lentiviral Particles	; 23	
	4.2.4	Transient Knockdown in cell lines through siRNA transfection	24	
	4.2.5	Preparation of protein extracts and western blotting	25	
	4.2.6	RNA isolation and relative quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction	25	
	4.2.7	Transmission electron microscopy	26	
	4.2.8	Indirect immunofluorescence	26	
	4.2.9	Fluorometric lysosomal assays with fluorescent probes	27	
	4.2.10	Fluorescent confocal microscopy	28	
	4.2.11	Isolation of extracellular vesicles	28	
	4.2.12	Nanoparticle tracking analysis of isolated extracellular vesicles enriched	d in	
	exosor	nes 29		
	4.2.13	Sulforhodamine B assay for the determination of the lethal dose 50 (LC $_{50}$ )	29	
	4.2.14	Quantifications and Statistical Analysis	30	
5	RESU	LTS	31	
	5.1 A	2780CIS CDDP-RESISTANT OVCA CELLS HAVE AN INCREASED MACHINERY	FOR	
	ILVS/EXOS	OME BIOGENESIS.	31	
	5.2 T	HE RAB27A GTPASE IMPLICATED IN EXOSOMAL SECRETION IS OVEREXPRESSED	) IN	
	A2780CIS	CDDP-RESISTANT OVCA CELLS	34	
	5.3 C	DDP-RESISTANT A2780 OVCA CELLS SHOW AN IMPAIRED LYSOSOMAL FUNCTION	I IN	
	COMPARIS	SON TO QUIMIOSENSITIVE A2780 OVCA CELLS	36	
	5.4 R	AB27A KD REESTABLISHES LYSOSOMAL FUNCTION IN CDDP-RESISTANT A2780CIS O	VCA	
	CELLS 4	2		
	5.5 SI	LENCING OF RAB27A ACTS AS A CHEMOSENSITIZER STRATEGY IN CDDP-RESIST	ANT	
	A2780CIS	OVCA CELLS	48	
	5.6 T	ARGETING AUTOPHAGOSOMES AND AMPHISOMES AS AN ALTERNATIVE STRATEGY	/ то	
	CONTROL	RAB27A/RAB7 RATIO IN CDDP-RESISTANT A2780CIS OVCA CELLS	53	
	connor		55	
6	DISCU	JSSION	59	
7	CONC	LUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES	68	
8	REFERENCES			
9	PUBL	ICATIONS	. 98	

## VIII

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Increased number of MVBs in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells
Figure 2. Increased levels of RAB27A in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells
Figure 3. LAMP1 and Cathepsin D lysosomal-like structures are reduced in CDDP- resistant OvCa cells
Figure 4. Lysosomal acidity and function are reduced in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells
Figure 5. RAB27A silencing expression promotes the endo-lysosomal pathway
<b>Figure 6.</b> RAB27A KD causes a recovery of lysosome-like structures in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells
<b>Figure 7.</b> RAB27A KD induces a recovery of the lysosomal acidity and function in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells
<b>Figure 8.</b> The interruption of exosome secretion promotes chemosensitivity to cisplatin in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells
<b>Figure 9.</b> Increased number of amphisome-like structures in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells
Figure 10. The FIP200 silencing reduces autophagy in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells
<b>Figure 11.</b> FIP200 silencing promotes the endo-lysosomal pathway in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells
Figure 12: Schematic representation of our main findings

#### RESUMEN

El cáncer de ovario (OvCa) es una enfermedad agresiva cuyo tratamiento habitual es la terapia basada en cisplatino (CDDP). Sin embargo, entre los distintos tipos de cánceres tratados con CDDP, el OvCa es el que más desarrolla quimioresistencia a esta droga, planteándose que los exosomas podrían jugar un papel central en la adquisición de esta propiedad. Los exosomas se forman como vesículas intraluminales (ILVs) dentro de cuerpos multivesiculares (MVBs) organelos que participan al menos en tres vías; 1) la fusión con la membrana plasmática (PM) para la secreción de exosomas, proceso regulado por proteínas de la familia RAB GTPasas, siendo la RAB27A la más estudiada; 2) la vía degradativa donde los MVBs fusionan con los lisosomas, un evento controlado por la RAB7; y 3) la vía de anfisomas donde los MVBs se fusionan con los autofagosomas, organelos híbridos que participan en secreción de exosomas (fusión con la PM) y en degradación (fusión con lisosomas). Distintos estudios indican que una pérdida de la función lisosomal pudiera potenciar la secreción de exosomas, sin embargo se desconoce si la adquisición de quimioresistencia del OvCa al CDDP es el resultado de una fina regulación de estos eventos celulares se desconoce. En este trabajo de tesis se caracterizaron las diferentes estructuras asociadas a los eventos mencionados anteriormente, los MVBs, lisosomas, y anfisomas, mediante diferentes estrategias tanto de biología celular. molecular y bioquímicas, y se compararon entre las células de OvCa sensibles al CDDP (A2780) y resistentes al CDDP (A2780cis). Nuestros resultados muestran que las células A2780cis tienen un mayor número de MVBs/ILVs y estructuras tipo anfisomas. Además, las A2780cis poseen niveles elevados de RAB27A y proteínas asociadas a la maquinaria ESCRTs, en comparación con las células A2780. Contrariamente, pudimos definir que las células A2780cis tienen una actividad lisosomal disminuida, explicada en parte por un número reducido de lisosomas, y de niveles de RAB7. En conjunto, nuestros resultados sugieren que la resistencia al CDDP pudiera ser el resultado de una mayor secreción de exosomas vía MVBs/ILVs y/o anfisomas como consecuencia de una disfunción lisosomal. Interesantemente, el silenciamiento de RAB27A en las células A2780cis causó un incremento robusto en la función lisosomal, sugiriendo la activación de un mecanismo compensatorio en respuesta a una reducida secreción vía MVBs y/o anfisomas. Sorprendentemente, esta reversión fenotípica del estado funcional de los lisosomas promueve quimiosensibilidad al CDDP en las células A2780cis. Además, ya que las células A2780cis presentan un incrementado número de estructuras tipo anfisomas, evaluamos el efecto de la reducción de estos organelos mediante el silenciamiento de FIP200, un gen clave en la biogénesis de los autofagosomas. Inesperadamente, el silenciamiento de FIP200 causó una reducción de los niveles de RAB27A y de estructuras CD63. junto a un aumento en los niveles de RAB7, similar a lo observado al bloquear la secreción de exosomas. Este resultado nos permite proponer una estrategia contra la quimioresistencia al CDDP en el OvCa por afectar la secreción de exosomas a través de la inhibición en la biogénesis de autofagosomas. Con todos estos hallazgos este trabajo de tesis doctoral ha permitido definir que la quimioresistencia de células OvCa a CDDP es controlada por la actividad lisosomal, organelos que definirían el potencial secretor de exosomas vía MVBs y/o anfisomas. Molecularmente, se pudo determinar que estos procesos están regulados por un fino equilibrio entre los niveles de RAB27A/RAB7. La identificación de blancos moleculares que cambien este equilibrio, tal como ocurre con el silenciamiento de FIP200, abre una posibilidad de considerar la disrupción de estos procesos como un potencial blanco terapéutico que revierta la adquisición de la quimioresistencia al CDDP en el OvCa.

Palabras claves: Quimioresistencia, Exosomas, Lisosomas

#### ABSTRACT

Ovarian cancer (OvCa) is an aggressive disease usually treated with cisplatinbased therapy (CDDP). However, among the different types of cancers treated with CDDP, OvCa is the most common type of cancer that develops chemoresistance to this drug, where exosomes are proposed to play a central role in the acquisition of this property. Exosomes are formed as intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) within multivesicular bodies (MVBs) organelles that participate in at least three pathways; 1) the fusion with the plasma membrane (PM) for exosomal secretion, a process regulated by proteins of the RAB GTPase family, where RAB27A is the most studied; 2) the degradative pathway where MVBs fuse with lysosomes, an event controlled by RAB7; and 3) the amphisome pathway where MVBs fuse with autophagosomes, hybrid organelles involved in exosome secretion (fusion with the PM) and degradation (fusion with lysosomes). Different studies indicate that a loss of lysosomal function could enhance exosome secretion; however, whether the acquisition of OvCa chemoresistance to CDDP is the result of a fine regulation of these cellular events is unknown. In this thesis work, the different structures associated with the aforementioned events, MVBs, lysosomes, and amphisomes were characterized by different cell biological, molecular, and biochemical strategies and compared between CDDP-sensitive (A2780) and CDDP-resistant (A2780cis) OvCa cells. Our results show that A2780cis cells have a higher number of MVBs/ILVs and amphisome-like structures. In addition, A2780cis possess elevated RAB27A levels and ESCRTs machinery-associated proteins compared to A2780 cells. Conversely, we were able to define that A2780cis cells have diminished lysosomal activity, explained in part by a reduced number of lysosomes and levels of RAB7. Taken together, our results suggest that CDDP resistance could be the result of increased exosome secretion via MVBs/ILVs and/or amphisomes as a consequence of lysosomal dysfunction. Interestingly, RAB27A silencing in A2780cis cells caused a robust increase in lysosomal function, suggesting the activation of a compensatory mechanism in response to a reduced secretion via MVBs and/or amphisomes. Surprisingly, the reversal phenotype of the lysosomal status promoted chemosensitivity to CDDP in A2780cis cells. Furthermore, since A2780cis cells exhibit an increased number of amphisome-like structures, we evaluated the effect of a reduction in these organelles by FIP200 silencing, a key gene in autophagosome biogenesis. Unexpectedly, FIP200 silencing caused a downregulation in the levels of RAB27A and CD63 structures, together with an increase in the RAB7 levels that are similar to our findings on the blockage of exosomes secretion. This result allows us to propose a strategy against CDDP chemoresistance in OvCa by affecting exosome secretion through the inhibition of autophagosome biogenesis. With all these findings, this doctoral thesis work enables us to define that the chemoresistance of OvCa cells to CDDP is controlled by lysosomal activity, organelles that would define the exosome secretory potential via MVBs and/or amphisomes. Molecularly, we determined these processes are regulated by a fine balance between RAB27A/RAB7 levels. The identification of molecular targets that caused a change in this balance, as occurs with FIP200 silencing, opens a possibility to consider the disruption of these processes as a potential therapeutic target to reverse the acquisition of CDDP chemoresistance in OvCa.

Keywords: Chemoresistance, Exosomes, Lysosomes

#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 OVARIAN CANCER AND TREATMENT**

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines cancer as a large group of diseases that can start in almost any organ or tissue when abnormal cells grow uncontrollably, with the ability to invade and spread to other organs. In 2018, WHO reported that around 18.1 million women worldwide had cancer, and 9.6 million died due to this disease (Bray et al., 2018).

#### 1.1.1 Cancer development

The origin of cancer is diverse and, in many cases, unknown. However, several aspects are involved, including genetic mutation to epimutation, from a viral infection to exposure to chemical or physical agents. Also, health risk factors and lifestyle could facilitate the emergence and development of cancer (Diori Karidio & Sanlier, 2021). The development of this disease, termed carcinogenesis, is a multistep and multifactorial molecular process that involves interactions between cells and the environment of the organism (Cerda-Troncoso et al., 2021; Diori Karidio & Sanlier, 2021). Carcinogenesis consists of three different stages: initiation, promotion, and progression (Marongiu et al., 2018; Pitot, 1993). The first stage implicates irreversible genetic variations in normal cells, promoted by a carcinogen, followed by a reversible process regulated by epigenetic modifications, stimulating the clonal expansion of the altered cells, initiates to express a malignant phenotype and acquisition of aggressive characteristics (Conti, 2010; Oliveira et al., 2007; Pitot, 1993). In the progression stage, altered cells increase the incidence of genetic abnormalities that contribute to developing several cellular capacities, including resistance to cell death, metabolic reprogramming, high proliferative capacity, induction of angiogenesis, evasion of the immune system, and activation of the metastatic flux (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). Additionally, new emergent biological processes such as cellular plasticity, the microbiota composition, and senescent program activation contribute to the cancer malignancy and its progression (Hanahan, 2022). The process of metastases is a major cause of death from cancer that involves the capacity of cancer cells to migrate and invade the surrounding tissues, colonizing and growing in the new site, through intravasation in the circulatory or lymphatic system, survival to the circulation, and new site extravasation (Fares et al., 2020; He et al., 2018; Nguyen et al., 2009).

#### 1.1.2 Ovarian Cancer

Ovarian cancer (OvCa) is one of the most common gynecologic cancers (Reid et al., 2017) and represents 47% of deaths associated with genital cancer in women (Berek et al., 2021). In Chile, it has been reported that OvCa is the ninth leading cause of death among the different types of cancer in women, with a linear increase in deaths associated with this cancer in the last 15 years (Cuello F, 2013). This cancer has a lower prevalence but is three times more lethal. The high mortality rate of ovarian cancer is caused by asymptomatic and secret growth of the tumor (Momenimovahed et al., 2019).

Several risk factors are associated with ovarian cancer where more than one-fifth are hereditary. Between 65–85 percent of cases are associated with a germline mutation in *BRCA* genes. In parallel, around 36 percent of ovarian cancer cases are related to genetic syndromes, such as Lynch syndrome and Li-Fraumeni syndrome (Berek et al., 2021; Roett & Evans, 2009; Toss et al., 2015). Also, other risk factors linked to physiological, health, and lifestyle conditions have been summarized (Momenimovahed et al., 2019; Reid et al., 2017; Roett & Evans, 2009). According to its cellular origin, this cancer is classified into three types: epithelial (85 to 95 percent of incidence), stromal (5 to 8 percent of incidence), and germinal (3 to 5 percent of incidence) (Roett & Evans, 2009).

The Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) has classified epithelial ovarian cancer into four stages, from I to IV, according to the localization of the tumor and its spread from where it originated (Berek et al., 2021). Around two-thirds of all epithelial ovarian cancers are in Stage III (the tumor involves one or both ovaries or fallopian tubes, with confirmed spread to the peritoneum outside the pelvis and metastasis to the retroperitoneal lymph nodes) or Stage IV (distant

metastasis in the extra-abdominal and parenchymal liver or spleen involvement, excluding peritoneal metastases) at diagnosis (Berek et al., 2021; Katopodis et al., 2019).

#### **1.1.3 Cisplatin Treatment for Ovarian Cancer**

The current treatment for patients with ovarian cancer involves primary debulking surgery followed by platinum-based and/or taxane-based combination chemotherapy (Kim et al., 2018; Roett & Evans, 2009). For platinum-based, cisplatin (CDDP) is the most used chemotherapy. It was the first FDA-approved platinum compound for cancer treatment in 1978 (Dasari & Bernard Tchounwou, 2014; Helm & States, 2009). Cisplatin structurally is a coordinated compound with square planar geometry. This entry to the cells is by passive diffusion through the plasmatic membrane (PM), or by facilitated diffusion through copper transporters Ctr1 and Ctr2, and organic cation transporters OCT1 and OCT2 principally (Makovec, 2019). Once internalized into cells, CDDP is spontaneously activated through aquation reactions involving substituting cis-chloro groups with water molecules. As a product of these reactions, the CDDP is transformed into an electrophilic compound, acquiring the affinity towards sulfhydryl groups on proteins and nitrogen donor atoms in nucleic acids (Galluzzi et al., 2012; Tchounwou et al., 2021).

The mechanisms of action of CDDP could be divided into nuclear and cytoplasmic sections. In terms of nuclear effects, aquated CDDP binds to DNA on purine bases, forming DNA–DNA inter-and intra-strand adducts (Galluzzi et al., 2012), causing significant alteration of the DNA, blockage cell division, and promoting the induction of apoptosis. It has been reported that apoptosis-induction by CDDP is principally through p53, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPKs), c-jun N-terminal kinases (JNK), or c-Abl activation (Alderden et al., 2006; Tchounwou et al., 2021).

Concerning cytoplasmic effects, CDDP can generate ROS directly through mitochondrial damage (through binding to mitochondrial DNA, by the alteration of the function of voltage-dependent anion channel) or by induction of lipid peroxidation that increases carbonylation of proteins and induces oxidative damage of cell membranes, promoting apoptosis (Galluzzi et al., 2012; Tchounwou et al., 2021). Induction of Ca<sup>+2</sup> release from the endoplasmic reticulum by CDDP treatment activates the calcium-dependent protease Calpain and consequently the Caspase-3 (Al-Bahlani et al., 2011). Similarly, the depolarization of the mitochondrial inner membrane induced by CDDP promotes Cytochrome-C release and subsequently Caspase-3 activation. Finally, the activation of this Caspase promotes apoptosis (Tchounwou et al., 2021).

Initially, OvCa patients have an excellent response to CDDP, however, in ovarian cancer patients, it has been observed that a significant percentage of initially sensitive tumors develop chemoresistance (Galluzzi et al., 2012; D. W. Shen et al., 2012). This has led to a decrease in the clinical effectiveness of CDDP, and the ovarian cancer survival rate has not improved significantly (Kim et al., 2018; D. W. Shen et al., 2012). Therefore, efforts are addressed to investigate and understand the mechanisms of CDDP chemoresistance in ovarian cancer related to cellular adaptive processes, knowledge that could help to the development of new therapies to be used as co-treatment.

#### **1.2 CHEMORESISTANCE TO CDDP IN OVARIAN CANCER**

The use of chemotherapeutics focuses on the ability of these drugs to decrease tumor size or induce short-term remission by induction of apoptosis or controlling cell division (Mollaei et al., 2021). Cancer cells may acquire resistance to chemotherapy as an adaptive mechanism to survive (Hasan et al., 2018; Qin et al., 2020), but chemoresistance is a significant contributor to the drastic number of deaths in all cancers (Hayatudin et al., 2021). In terms of CDDP chemoresistance, epithelial ovarian cancer can be classified into two groups: CDDP-resistant, which corresponds to patients relapsing before six months following the treatment completion; and CDDP-sensitive, which corresponds to patients relapsing at least six months after the completion of treatment (Binju et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2014). The CDDP-sensitive patients with relapse can be re-treated with CDDP-based therapy with good clinical effectiveness. However, it

has been identified that half of these newly treated patients develop CDDP resistance (Binju et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2018).

The acquisition of chemoresistance in the tumor through different cellular and molecular mechanisms produces changes in cell identity. These changes are given by adaptive processes that evade the effects of chemotherapy, known as cancer cell plasticity (Qin et al., 2020; Tchounwou et al., 2021; Yuan et al., 2019). Consistent with this, cellular and molecular mechanisms of chemoresistance to cisplatin in ovarian cancer can include CDDP reduction entry inside cells; DNA repair systems, metabolic reprogramming, cell death inhibition; epigenetic response; and adaptive cellular processes (Ai et al., 2016; Chan et al., 2021; Chapman-Rothe et al., 2013; Du et al., 2016; Fraser et al., 2008; Green & Ferguson, 2001; Hudson et al., 2016; Norouzi-Barough et al., 2018; Patch et al., 2015; Schneiderman et al., 1999; Stordal et al., 2012; Strathdee et al., 2012).

#### 1.2.1 Adaptive cellular processes

In recent years, the role of various adaptive cellular processes has been explored in chemoresistance to cisplatin in ovarian cancer. One mechanism is related to Gap junctions (GJs), PM channels that participate in cell-cell communication (Hervé & Derangeon, 2013). GJs consist of two hemichannels known as connexons, composed of six transmembrane proteins called connexins (Cxs). Interestingly, A2780cis CDDP-resistant ovarian cancer cells show a higher expression of Cx32 at the PM than CDDP-sensitive cells (W. Wu et al., 2017), facilitating the efflux of CDDP to the extracellular milieu (Y. Zhang et al., 2019). Another adaptive response is related to the mitochondrial function. Cisplatin promotes mitochondrial damage in ovarian cancer (Galluzzi et al., 2012; Tchounwou et al., 2021). Intriguingly, CDDP-resistant ovarian cancer cells have an increase in mitochondrial function compared to sensitive cells, thus reducing the effect of CDDP on these organelles, which in part can be explained by an increased mitochondrial turnover rate through mitophagy (Zampieri et al., 2020). Together with the role of mitochondria, CDDP also impacts the function of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). CDDP induces dysregulation in ER calcium homeostasis promoting stress-triggered apoptosis (Mandic et al., 2003), due to the close contact between the ER and mitochondria, ER-stress promotes a flow of calcium from ER to mitochondria, causing a mitochondrial calcium overload and amplification of pro-apoptotic signaling (Sano & Reed, 2013). In this way, CDDP-resistant ovarian cancer cells showed tolerance to calcium outflow from the ER by the induction of ER-stress by cisplatin compared with the respective sensitive cells, probably due to a decrease in ER-mitochondrial contacts or by an increased mitochondrial turnover (XU et al., 2015; Zampieri et al., 2020).

Among all the adaptive cellular mechanisms described another pathway that has become relevant in CDDP resistance in ovarian cancer is macroautophagy (usually called autophagy). This catabolic pathway engulfs cytoplasmic materials into double-membrane structures named autophagosomes, which subsequently are fused with lysosomes to form autolysosomes, where the materials are degraded by acidic hydrolytic enzymes (Cerda-Troncoso et al., 2021). Autophagy can regulate cancer therapy efficacy and resistance (Poillet-Perez et al., 2021). For example, mitophagy (selective autophagy of mitochondria) improves mitochondrial turnover to evade the toxic effect of CDDP on this organelle in cisplatin-resistant ovarian cancer cells (Zampieri et al., 2020). *However, the role of autophagy in chemoresistance to cisplatin in ovarian cancer is still poorly understood.* 

#### **1.3 EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES IN CHEMORESISTANCE**

In addition, cells can secrete cellular material in response to cytotoxic compounds such as CDDP offering another mechanism for chemoresistance. The secretion of cellular material is mediated by a heterogeneous group of extracellular vesicles (EVs) that eliminate unneeded compounds from the cell, or transfer nucleic acids, lipids, or proteins as a mechanism for cell-cell communication through nucleic acids, lipids, or proteins (Van Niel et al., 2018). Based on their biogenesis, EVs can be classified into apoptotic bodies, 50 nm to 5  $\mu$ m vesicles released

undergoing apoptosis; ectosomes, with a range of 100 nm to 1 µm in diameter, formed by direct outward budding from the PM; and exosomes, 30-100 nm vesicles, originated from the endocytic compartment and secreted upon fusion of these compartments with the PM (Doyle & Wang, 2019; Mathieu et al., 2021; Van Niel et al., 2018). Exosomes are nanosized extracellular vesicles of an endosomal origin, constitutively released from cells (Steinbichler et al., 2019; Van Niel et al., 2018). In several cancer cell models an increase in exosome secretion in response to the chemotherapy has been observed, probably by promoting their biogenesis and activating its secretion (Bandari et al., 2018; Lv et al., 2012; Y & J, 2021). In chemoresistance, EVs including exosomes could play a role in homeostasis maintenance through the expulsion of cytotoxic components produced by chemotherapy, or even releasing the chemotherapeutic drug into EVs, but also transferring chemoresistance through microRNAs, long non-coding RNAs (LncRNAs), drug efflux receptors, and proteins related to tumor progression into neighboring sensitive cells (Mosquera-Heredia et al., 2021; Steinbichler et al., 2019; S. Yu et al., 2015; He-da Zhang et al., 2018). Recently, the term chemo-EVs, that corresponds to EVs (including exosomes, referred as Chemo-Exosomes), secreted in response to chemotherapy has been introduced (Bandari et al., 2020). In ovarian cancer, CDDP promotes the secretion of chemoexosomes from CDDP-resistant cells as a mechanism of drug expulsion (Safaei et al., 2005). However, the cellular and molecular mechanisms that mediate the enhancement of secretion of exosomes or chemo-exosomes from chemo resistant ovarian cancer cells are poorly understood (Cossart & Helenius, 2014; Elkin et al., 2016; Kiss & Botos, 2009; Mayor et al., 2014). Thus, the study of these emerging mechanisms opens a door to the development of new therapies to curb CDDP chemoresistance in ovarian cancer.

#### **1.3.1** Biogenesis of exosome in endosomes

The exosomes are formed as intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) by the process of inward budding in the endosomal membrane during the maturation of multivesicular bodies (MVBs) and are secreted due to its fusion with the PM (Klumperman & Raposo, 2014; Van Niel et al., 2018). Because MVBs are part of the endolysosomal network (Klumperman & Raposo, 2014), it is necessary to comprehend this cellular network to understand the regulation of biogenesis and secretion of exosomes.

The endolysosomal network is required for multiple functions and control of homeostasis maintenance (Klumperman & Raposo, 2014). This network started with early endosomes (EEs), which receive almost all components internalized from the cell surface in the endocytosis (Cossart & Helenius, 2014; Elkin et al., 2016; Kiss & Botos, 2009; Mayor et al., 2014). EEs have a structure with tubular and vacuolar domains, with a mosaic of sub-domains in their limiting membrane (Huotari & Helenius, 2011). EEs could be fused homeotypically or maturate to form late endosomes (LEs), also referred to as MVBs (Klumperman & Raposo, 2014; Rink et al., 2005), through a mechanism dependent on RAB5 GTPase (Langemeyer et al., 2018; Zerial & McBride, 2001).

As mentioned, the formation of ILVs (future exosomes) begins in EEs and continues in the endosome maturation process to MVBs/LEs with the result that these structures contain more ILVs (Huotari & Helenius, 2011; Klumperman & Raposo, 2014; Van Niel et al., 2018; Vietri et al., 2020). The biogenesis of ILVs/exosomes is mediated by a mechanism dependent on the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) and ESCRT-independent (Van Niel et al., 2018).

In ESCRT-dependent, this machinery plays a key role in ILVs/exosome biogenesis and protein sorting to these vesicles (Vietri et al., 2020). In the cytosolic surface of the EEs membrane enriched in phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate [PtdIns(3)P] (Kutateladze, 2006; Raiborg et al., 2013), clathrin forms a coat to deform the membrane to facilitate clustering of cargos by ESCRT-0, composed of HRS and STAM1/2 (Huotari & Helenius, 2011; Hurley & Hanson, 2010; Raiborg et al., 2002; Vietri et al., 2020; Wollert & Hurley, 2010). The protein sorting for the inclusion into ILVs/exosomes is marked by lysine-63-linked polyubiquitin chains recognized by HRS (Raiborg et al., 2002; Vietri et al., 2020). After, ESCRT-I (TSG101, VPS28, VPS37, MVB12A) is recruited, enhancing

cargo clustering, principally through ubiquitin-binding domains (UBA) of TSG101 (Hurley & Hanson, 2010; Vietri et al., 2020; Wollert & Hurley, 2010); and promoting ESCRT-II (VPS22, VPS25, VPS36) recruitment, which together initiates inclusion of cargos through membrane buds (Boura et al., 2012; Hurley & Hanson, 2010; Vietri et al., 2020; Wollert & Hurley, 2010). Finally, ESCRT-I through ESCRT-II or the adaptor protein Bro1/ALG-2-interacting protein X (ALIX) promotes nucleation and stabilization that drives the polymerization of ESCRT-III (CHMP2A/B, CHMP3, CHMP4A/B/C CHMP6) filaments (Christ et al., 2017; Friand et al., 2015; Hurley & Hanson, 2010; Vietri et al., 2020). These filaments interact with the endosomal membrane, facilitating neck constriction of buds and vesicle scission, ending the ILVs/exosome biogenesis (Christ et al., 2017; Vietri et al., 2020; Wollert & Hurley, 2010). After, ESCRT-III polymers are disassembled to be recycled by AAA+ ATPase Vps4 to disassemble ESCRT-III polymers (Hurley & Hanson, 2010).

In addition, three ESCRT-independent mechanisms have been described: Ceramide-Sphingomyelin, Tetraspanines, and Syndecan–Syntenin–ALIX dependent pathways (Andreu & Yáñez-Mó, 2014; Baietti et al., 2012; Friand et al., 2015; Verderio et al., 2018). The type-II sphingomyelinase in the membrane of endosomes hydrolyzes the sphingomyelin into ceramide (Verderio et al., 2018). The generation of ceramide enriched subdomain in endosomes promotes the curvature of the membrane generating ILVs (Goñi & Alonso, 2009). In the Ceramide-Sphingomyelin pathway, the activation of Sphingosine 1-Phosphate Receptor mediates the incorporation of cargos into ILVs (Kajimoto et al., 2013). The Tetraspanines (proteins with four transmembrane domains) in MVBs can form microdomains that promote inward budding and ILVs, incorporating proteins and RNA (Andreu & Yáñez-Mó, 2014; Van Niel et al., 2018). In the Syndecan-Syntenin–ALIX pathway, Syndecans (abundant ubiquitous transmembrane proteins) are recognized by Syntenin in EEs and during their maturation promote a cluster of Syndecan-Syntenin. This cluster mediates the inward budding of membrane and ILVs biogenesis through the interaction of Syntenin with ALIX and the participation of some ESCRT-I, -II and -III proteins (Baietti et al., 2012; Friand et al., 2015).

#### 1.3.2 RAB-GTPases and exosome secretion

The membrane trafficking steps, such as biogenesis, transport, tethering, and membrane fusion events are regulated by the RAB family of small GTPases. These molecules function as molecular switches, cycling between GTP-bound and GDP-bound states (Cavieres et al., 2020; Homma et al., 2021). These processes are controlled by guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), which catalyze the exchange of GDP for GTP; and GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs), which accelerate the intrinsic GTPase activity of a RAB, promoting the hydrolysis of GTP to GDP (Hutagalung & Novick, 2011; Stenmark, 2009). In the active state, each RAB associates with its specific subcellular compartment for the recruitment of specific effectors, orchestrating different membrane trafficking steps (Grosshans et al., 2006; Zhen & Stenmark, 2015).

The RAB11A, RAB22A RAB27A/B, RAB31, and RAB35 have been reported to mediate trafficking and fusion of endosomes structures with the PM for release of ILVs in the form of exosomes, under basal condition or specific stimulus (Jin et al., 2021; Messenger et al., 2018; Ostrowski et al., 2010; T. Wang et al., 2014; Wei et al., 2021). Among these, RAB27 is the most studied. This consists of two isoforms, RAB27A and RAB27B, encoded by different genes (Mitsunori Fukuda, 2013). RAB27 mainly regulates the secretion of exosomes derived from MVBs/LEs (M. Fukuda, 2008; Van Niel et al., 2018). It has been characterized that basal and induced exosome secretion is regulated by RAB27 (Dorayappan et al., 2018; Ostrowski et al., 2010). Several reports indicate that particularly the RAB27A is associated with poor cancer prognosis (Koh & Song, 2019; X. Li et al., 2017; Q. Wang et al., 2015; F. Yu et al., 2020), mediating tumor progression (Bobrie et al., 2012; Dorayappan et al., 2018; Feng et al., 2016; Hendrix & De Wever, 2013; Kren et al., 2020; J. Li et al., 2017; W. Li et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2017; J.-S. Wang et al., 2008; X. Wu et al., 2013; F. Yu et al., 2020), and participates in chemoresistance through exosome secretion in numerous cancers (Hertzman Johansson et al., 2013; J. Li et al., 2017; X. Li et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2017). *However, the role of RAB27A and the other RABs associated with exosome secretion has not been studied in CDDP-resistance in ovarian cancer.* 

## 1.4 LYSOSOME STATUS AND AUTOPHAGOSOMES: NEW KEYS IN REGULATION OF EXOSOME SECRETION

The pathway of exosome secretion is interconnected with a degradative pathway of endosomes. The MVBs/LEs fused with the lysosomes, degrading the contents incorporated into ILVs (Eitan et al., 2016; Huotari & Helenius, 2011; Klumperman & Raposo, 2014). This trafficking is governed by RAB7A (Bucci et al., 2000; Hyttinen et al., 2013; Vanlandingham & Ceresa, 2009a) and contributes to the maintenance and biogenesis of lysosomes (Bae et al., 2019; Huotari & Helenius, 2011). The sorting mechanisms governing the differential delivery of MVBs/LEs to the PM or on route to lysosomes are unknown (Eitan et al., 2016). However, cumulative evidence in some pathologies suggests that inhibition of the delivery of MVBs/LEs to one direction may stimulate the other as a compensatory response (Adams et al., 2021; Eitan et al., 2016; Guix et al., 2021; D. Huang et al., 2022; Miranda et al., 2018; Ortega et al., 2019; Strauss et al., 2010; van de Vlekkert et al., 2019; Villarroya-Beltri et al., 2016; J. Zhang et al., 2021). Interestingly, CDDP-resistant cells have a decrease in lysosome function compared to sensitive cells (Guerra et al., 2019; Kalayda et al., 2008; Safaei et al., 2005). Instead, CDDP-resistant cells release a higher number of exosome secretion suggesting these two pathways are highly regulated (Safaei et al., 2005).

As mentioned in section 1.2.3, the autophagosome engulfed cytoplasmic materials send them to the lysosomes for their degradation by acidic hydrolytic enzymes (Cerda-Troncoso et al., 2021). For cargo recognition and incorporation into autophagosomes, cytoplasmic material is recognized by autophagy cargo receptors, such as p62/SQSTM1 and NBR1 (Mancias & Kimmelman, 2016). These receptors can bind to autophagosomes by interacting with the ATG8s

family proteins (LC3A, LC3B, LC3C, GABARAP, GABARPL1, and GABARAPL2), which are associated with the membrane of autophagosomes (Johansen & Lamark, 2020; Kabeya et al., 2004). The trafficking and fusion of autophagosomes with lysosomes are mediated by RAB7A (Hyttinen et al., 2013) and are highly dependent on their degradative status of lysosomes (X. Chen et al., 2021; Kawai et al., 2007; J. Wang et al., 2017; A. Yamamoto et al., 1998). However, autophagosomes can also be fused with MVBs/LEs, forming a hybrid organelle known as amphisomes (Berg et al., 1998; Ganesan & Cai, 2021), that finally fused with lysosomes for degradation. Alternatively, amphisomes can be fused with the PM mediating the secretion of the cytoplasmic content within autophagosomes together with exosomes. Interestingly, recent reports indicate that amphisomes could promote the exosome secretion (Hu et al., 2020; Peng et al., 2021) in a lysosomal dysfunction context (Peng et al., 2021). Moreover, in CDDP-resistant A2780cis ovarian cancer cells autophagosomes play a positive role in chemoresistance (Bao et al., 2015) by a mechanism poorly understood. One relevant problem of cell biology related with deaths associated with ovarian cancer is the development of CDDP resistance, the main chemotherapeutic agent used for this cancer. With the presented evidence suggesting that MVBs/ILVs biogenesis and exosomal secretion could promote CDDP chemoresistance of OvCa cells, a process that could be controlled by the status of lysosomal, we

propose the following hypothesis:

#### 2 HYPOTHESIS

"The chemoresistance of ovarian cancer cells to CDDP is dependent on an increase in the secretory MVBs pathway as a consequence of reduced lysosomal function"

#### **3 OBJECTIVE**

Characterize the biogenesis of MVBs, their secretion, and the lysosomal compartments between CDDP-sensitive (A2780) and CDDP-resistant (A2780cis) OvCa cells.

#### **3.1 SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES**

- Analyze components of biogenesis and MVBs secretion between CDDPsensitive (A2780) and CDDP-resistant (A2780cis) cells.
- Analyze components of lysosomes and their function between CDDPsensitive (A2780) and CDDP-resistant (A2780cis) cells
- Evaluate the effect of disruption of MVBs secretion on CDDP resistance in CDDP-resistant (A2780cis) cells.

#### 4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **4.1 MATERIALS**

#### 4.1.1 Biological Material

The ovarian cancer cell lines A2780 (CDDP-sensitive, cat#93112519) and A2780cis (CDDP-resistant, cat#93112517) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). The cell line Lenti-X<sup>™</sup> 293T Cell Line (HEK293T, cat#632180) was obtained from Takara Bio USA, Inc (San Jose, CA, USA).

#### 4.1.2 Chemical Reagents

Amersham<sup>™</sup> Protran<sup>®</sup> Nitrocellulose (cat#GE1060002), Cisplatin (CDDP, cat#479306), Gelatin Type A from porcine skin (cat#G-2500), L-Poly-Lys Saponin (cat#P4707), 2-Mercaptoethanol (cat#M3148), (cat#S4521). Sulforhodamine B (SRB, cat#230162), puromycin dihydrochloride (cat#P8833), and protease inhibitors cocktail (cat#P8340) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis. MO, USA). Methanol (cat#1060092500) Acetic Acid (cat#100064.1000), Trichloroacetic acid (TCA, cat#100807.0250), and HEPES Free Acid (cat#391340) were purchased from Merck Millipore (Burlington, MA, United States). BCA Kit (cat#23225), DMEM without red phenol (cat#21063-029), Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) free exosome (cat#A27-208-01), glycerol (cat#15514-011), LysoTracker<sup>™</sup> Red DND-99 (cat#L7528), OptiMEM (cat#31985-070), One Shot<sup>™</sup> Stbl3<sup>™</sup> E.coli (cat#C737303), Pen/Strep (cat#15140-122), RNAi Max (cat#13778-075), TRIzol<sup>™</sup> (cat#15596018), Trypsin-EDTA 0,05% (cat#25300-54), West Pico (cat#34577), West Dura (cat#34076) and 4',6-diamidino-2phenylindole (DAPI) (cat#D1306) were purchased from ThermoFisher Scientific (Waltham, 126 MA, USA). Acrylamide: Bisacrilamide 29:1 30% (cat#BM0100), bromophenol blue (cat#A2-0395), CaCl<sub>2</sub> (cat#E506), MgCl<sub>2</sub> (cat#E255), Ponceau Red (cat#BM-1492), Winkler) were purchased from Winkler (Santiago, Chile). Ampicillin Sodium Salt (cat#A2260), Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS, cat#C15081006) and Triton X-100 (cat#T8655) were purchased from USBiological life science (Salem, Massachusetts, USA). Fluoromount-G

(cat#17984-25) and Paraformaldehyde 16% Solution EM grade (PFA cat#15710) were purchased from Electron Microscopy Science (Hatfield, PA 19440, USA). Glycin (cat#FER00G500G) and Tris Base (cat#FER00B500) were purchased from Fermelo Biotec (Santiago, Chile). RPMI (cat#SH30255.02) and Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium High Glucose (DMEM-HG cat# SH30243.02) were purchased from Cytiva (Marlborough, MA, USA). AccuRuler RGB Plus Ladder Protein (cat#02102-250) was purchased from MaestroGen (Hsinchu City, Taiwan, China). Ammonium peroxodisulfate (APS, cat#0486-256) was purchased from Avantor-VWR (Radnor, PA, USA). Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA, cat#BSA-05), was purchased from Rockland Immunochemicals (Pottstown, PA, USA). FBS (cat#04-127-1A) was purchased BI Biological Industries/Sartorius (Aubagne, France). dNTPs (dATP cat#U1205, dCTP cat#U1225, dGTP cat#U1215, and dTTP cat#U1235), Go taq G2 Flexi (cat#M780B), 5x Green Go taq Flexi Buffer (cat#M891A), and 25 mM MqCl2 (cat#A3803) was obtained from was obtained from Promega (Madison, WI, USA). Magic Red<sup>®</sup> (cat#6133) and 2'-[4'-etoxifenil]-5-[4-metilpiperazin-1-il]-2,5'-bis-1h- benzimidazole trihidrocloruro trihydrate (Hoechst, cat# 639) were purchased from Immunochemistry Technologies, LLC (Bloomington, IN, USA). LB Broth Powder Growth (Miller) (cat#12106-1) was obtained from MO BIO Laboratories, Inc (Carlsbad, CA, USA). LB-agar medium (cat#113002232) was purchased from MP Biomedical (Irvine, CA, USA). M-MuLV Reverse Transcriptase (cat#M0253S) was purchased from New England Bio-Labs<sup>®</sup> (Ipswich, MA, USA). Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS, cat#46-013 CM) was purchased from Corning Inc. (Glendale, Arizona, USA). Tween-20 (cat#SC29113B) was purchased from ChemCruz<sup>™</sup> Biochemicals-Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX, USA). SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR® Green Supermix kit (cat#172571) was obtained from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA, USA).

#### 4.1.3 Antibodies

The following monoclonal antibodies were used: mouse anti-ALIX (cat# sc-53540), mouse anti-RAB7 (cat# sc-376362), mouse anti-RAB11A (cat#SC166912), and  $\beta$ -actin (cat#SC47778) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA; mouse anti-CD63 (cat# ab8219) and rabbit anti-RAB22A (cat# ab137093) from Abcam, Cambridge, UK; rabbit anti-FIP200 (cat# 172501-AP) from ProteinTech, Rosemont, IL, USA; mouse anti-LAMP1 clone H4A3 (cat# DSHBH4A3) and mouse anti-LAMP2 clone H4B4-c (cat#DSHBH4B4) from Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, Iowa City, IA, USA; mouse anti-TSG101 (cat# 612696) and mouse anti-p62/SQSTM1 (cat# 810832) from BD Bioscience, Becton, NJ, USA. The following polyclonal antibodies: goat anti-CATHEPSIN-D (cat#AF1014) from R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA; rabbit anti-HGS (HRS) (cat#ab15539) from Abcam, Cambridge, UK; rabbit anti-LC3 (cat#2775S) and rabbit anti-RAB35 (cat# 9690) from Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA; rabbit anti-RAB27A (cat#168013) from Synaptic Systems, Göttingen, Germany. Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies were purchased from Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories (West Grove, PA, USA), Alexa fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific.

#### 4.1.4 Plasmids and oligos

The shRNA was used as a control for Luciferase in pLKO.1 (containing a puromycin resistance gene) obtained from MISSION<sup>®</sup> (Sigma-Aldrich, cat#SHC007). The shRNA for RAB27A was cloned in pLKO.1 and donated by Matias Ostrowski Ph.D., Buenos Aires, Argentina (Gerber et al., 2015). The shRNA-Luciferase: 3' following sequences were used for CCGGCGCTGAGTACTTCGAAATGTCCTCGAGGACATTTCGAAGTACTCAG CGTTTTT-5', 3'and shRNA-RAB27A: CCGGCGGATCAGTTAAGTGAAGAAACTCGAGTTTCTTCACTTAACTGATC **CG**TTTTT-5'. The plasmids pCMV-VSV-g (viral envelope vector, cat# 12260) and pS-PAX2 (packaging vector, cat#8454) were obtained from Addgene (Watertown, MA, USA). The following siRNAs were ordered from Dharmacon/Horizon PA, 5'-Discovery (Boyertown, USA): siRNA non-target 5'-UUCUCCGAACGUGUCACGU-3' siRNA **FIP200** and GGAGAUUUGGUACUCAUCAUCA-3'. The following primers for gPCR were ordered from Integrated DNA Technologies IDT (Coralville, IA, USA). Mycoplasmdetection:5'-GGGAGCAAACAGGATTAG-3',TGCACCATCTGTCACTCTGTTAACCTC-5';GAPDH:GGAAGATGGTGATGGGATTTC-3',3'-GAAGGTGAAGGTCGGAGTCAA-5';andRAB27A:5'-ATGGAACGGTGTGTGGACAA-3',CCACATGCCCCTTTCTCCTT-5'.

#### 4.2 METHODS

#### 4.2.1 Cell culture

HEK 293T cell line obtained from Takara Bio were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium High Glucose (DMEM-HG; HyClone), supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS; BI Biological Industries), penicillin 100 U/mL, and streptomycin 100 mg/mL (Gibco). A2780 (CDDP-sensitive) and A2780cis (CDDP-resistant) cell lines were cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 (RPMI; HyClone), supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS; Life Technologies), L-glutamine 300 mg/mL, HEPES 25 mM, penicillin 100 U/mL and streptomycin 100 mg/mL (Gibco). Every two weeks in culture or every three passages, A2780cis cells were treated with 1  $\mu$ M CDDP for 72 h, then CDDP was removed to seed the cells for experiments. The three cell lines were cultured at 37°C, in a humid environment and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> until the required density was obtained. Each 2-3 days, cells were sub-cultured using Trypsin (0.05% Trypsin, 1 mM EDTA) at 37°C. Alternatively, they were frozen in 1.5 mL of freezing medium (10 % v/v DMSO, 90 % v/v FBS) and stored in cryotubes at -80°C.

Periodically, the presence of mycoplasmas was evaluated by PCR. Briefly, 1 mL of culture medium was obtained from cells at 60-80% confluence. Then was centrifuged at 15,000 RPM for 5 min. After, 900  $\mu$ L was discarded and then vortexed the remaining 100  $\mu$ L. For PCR, 2  $\mu$ L of sample were taken for the mix (1X green Go Taq Flexi buffer, 100  $\mu$ M dNTPs, 200  $\mu$ M of each primer, 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0,1  $\mu$ L Go taq G2 Flexi Enzyme, ultra-pure H<sub>2</sub>O up to 20  $\mu$ L). The thermal

profile of the reaction was: 95°C for 20 sec; 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 sec followed by 60°C for 30 sec and 68°C for 1 min; 68°C for 5 min; and hold time at 4°C to its analysis by 2% agarose electrophoresis.

#### 4.2.2 Bacterial transformation and plasmid DNA isolation

To prevent homologous recombination of Long Terminal Repeats (LTRs) found in pLKO.1 vector, we transformed the bacteria One Shot<sup>TM</sup> Stbl3<sup>TM</sup> *E.coli* (Invitrogen<sup>TM</sup>, ThermoFisher), designed for this propose, according to the manufacturer's protocol. The transformed bacteria with pLKO.1 vector was grown in LB-Agar with 100  $\mu$ g/mL Ampicillin 16 h at 37°C. After an isolated colony of transformed bacteria was selected and inoculated in 2 mL of LB with 100  $\mu$ g/mL Ampicillin. The inoculum was incubated at 37°C in a shaker at 200 rpm for 8 h. Then, to plasmid DNA isolation, a second inoculum was made in 100 mL of LB with 100  $\mu$ g/mL Ampicillin in a 1:1000 dilution from the 2 mL and was incubated at 37°C in a shaker at 200 rpm for 16 h. The plasmid DNA isolation was performed with NucleoBond Xtra Midi kit (Machery-Nagel) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The isolated plasmid DNA was quantified using the spectrophotometer EPOCH2 microplate reader (BioTek).

## 4.2.3 Generation of stable Knockdown cell lines through shRNA Lentiviral Particles

We generated stable A2780cis ovarian cancer cell lines with reduced levels of RAB27A by introducing shRNA-containing lentiviral particles. shRNA against the luciferase gene was used as a control. Lentiviral particles were generated by co-transfection of HEK293T cells with pLKO.1-*shRNA* constructs (8  $\mu$ g), pCMV-*VSV-g* (viral envelope vector, 4  $\mu$ g), and pS-*PAX2* (packaging vector, 8  $\mu$ g). For co-transfection, HEK293T cells were grown on a cell culture plate in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids, 6 mM L-Glutamine, penicillin 100 U/mL, streptomycin 100 mg/mL, and 500  $\mu$ g/mL Geneticin.

Transfection was performed with the calcium phosphate technique. Briefly, 4 h before transfection, the medium of the cells was changed. Plasmid DNAs were diluted in 500 µL of 0.25 M CaCl<sub>2</sub>, making up the volume to 520 µL with nucleasefree water. Then, 520 µL of 2X HBS (50 mM HEPES Free Acid, 280 mM NaCl, 10 mM KCl, 1.5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 12 mM Dextrose, pH 7.1) was maintained under vortex while the dilution of plasmid DNAs in CaCl<sub>2</sub> was added dropwise. After the mix, HBS|CaCl<sub>2</sub>|DNA was left incubating for 20 min at RT and added dropwise to the cells. Sixteen hours post-transfection, the medium of the cells was changed to OptiMEM (Gibco), without serum, penicillin 100 U/mL, and streptomycin 100 mg/mL. After 60 h post-transfection, the medium containing the virus produced by the cells was collected and centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 min to eliminate cellular debris. The supernatant was subsequently filtered on a 0.45 µm filter. Before virus concentration, 2 mL of 25% TNE-Sucrose was added to the ultracentrifuge tubes, then the filtered medium containing the viruses was added. and Ultracentrifugation was then performed at 28,000 rpm for 1:30 h at 4°C in a Hitachi P28S orbital rotor. The viral particles were then resuspended in PBS 1X and left in an orbital rotor at 4°C for 2 h, and storage to -80°C.

For transduction with lentivirus, A2780 and A2780cis cells were grown on a 24 well tissue culture plate overnight, then added 15  $\mu$ L of respective concentrated lentivirus and cells cultivated at a temperature of 37°C, in a humid environment and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> until 80% density was obtained. Before, cells were sub-cultured using Trypsin (0.05% Trypsin, 1 mM EDTA) at 37 °C and seeded on a 6 well tissue culture plate. Once a density of 80% density was obtained, the cells were washed with PBS 1X, and fresh medium supplemented with 6  $\mu$ g/mL puromycin was added for selection. The selected stable cells were expanded, and for maintenance, they were grown in a medium containing 3  $\mu$ g/mL puromycin.

#### 4.2.4 Transient Knockdown in cell lines through siRNA transfection

We generated transient A2780cis ovarian cancer cell lines with reduced levels of FIP200 by transfection with target siRNA target FIP200 mRNA (Gan et al., 2005). Non-targeting siRNA was used as a control. Transfections were carried out in 35

mm tissue culture plates using the Lipofectamine RNAiMax transfection reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's protocol for two transfections with siRNA. After 72 h, cells were collected or treated for further analysis.

#### 4.2.5 Preparation of protein extracts and western blotting

Cells were washed in cold phosphate buffer saline (PBS, corning) and subjected to lysis at 4°C in RIPA lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 0.1% SDS, 1% Deoxycholate, 1% NP-40, pH 7.4) supplemented with a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Sigma-Aldrich). Lysates were sonicated at 4°C, at minimum amplitude for three seconds. After, all lysates were cleared by centrifugation at 16,000 g for 20 min, and protein concentration was determined with BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Samples with equivalent amounts of protein were boiled for 5 min with Laemmli SDS-PAGE sample buffer and analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Proteins were electroblotted onto nitrocellulose membranes of 0.22  $\mu$ m and incubated sequentially with primary and secondary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. Chemiluminescence protein detection was performed using Pierce Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Scientific). As an internal loading control,  $\beta$ -actin levels were examined on the same blots. Quantification of blots was carried out using FIJI software.

# 4.2.6 RNA isolation and relative quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

RNA was isolated from cells using TriZol (Invitrogen), following the manufacturer's recommendations. RNA yield was quantified using the spectrophotometer EPOCH2 microplate reader (BioTek). Reverse transcription of RNA (2  $\mu$ g) was undergone in a 25  $\mu$ l reaction, using oligo(dT) and Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus Reverse Transcriptase Kit (M-MLV RT, NEB). For Relative Quantitative Real-Time PCR was performed using 5  $\mu$ l of ssAdvanced Universal SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green Supermix (Bio-Rad), 1  $\mu$ l cDNA (1:25), and 0.6  $\mu$ l of 10

 $\mu$ M gene-specific primer mix for a total reaction volume of 12  $\mu$ l. Quantification of gene expression was performed using the Rotor-Gene (QIAGEN). The thermal profile of the reaction was: 95°C for 1 min and 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 sec followed by 60°C for 15 sec and 72°C for 20 sec. All samples were run, at least in triplicate. Amplification of the sequence of interest was normalized with an endogenous reference gene glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*). Values were expressed as *RAB27A* levels relative to *GAPDH* levels.

#### 4.2.7 Transmission electron microscopy

Cells grown on 60 mm cell culture plates were processed in the advanced microscopy unit of the Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile. Briefly, cells were fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer (pH 7.0) at room temperature overnight. Then, washed with a cacodylate buffer for 2 h with three changes. After, cells were postfixed with 1% aqueous osmium tetroxide for 2 h and then rinsed with double distilled water and stained in a block with 1% uranyl acetate for 90 min. They were dehydrated with a battery of acetone at increasing concentrations (50%, 70%, 95%, and 100% twice) for 20 min each. Cells were pre-included with epon:acetone 1:1 overnight and then embedded in pure epon. Polymerization was carried out in an oven at 60 °C for 48 hr. Finally, thin slices were obtained (80 nm) on a Leica Ultracut R ultramicrotome and stained with 4% uranyl acetate in methanol for 2 min and with lead citrate for 5 min. The sections were observed under a Philips Tecnai 12 microscope (Eindhoven, The Netherlands) at 80 kV.

#### 4.2.8 Indirect immunofluorescence

Cells grown on glass coverslips were washed with PBS 1X and fixed in 4% (v/v) paraformaldehyde for 30 minutes or in methanol for 5 minutes at room temperature according to the antibody used. After fixation, cells were washed in PBS and permeabilized with 0.2% (v/v) Triton X-100 in PBS for 10 min at room temperature. Cells were incubated with the indicated primary antibodies diluted in immunofluorescence buffer (PBS containing 10% (v/v) FBS and 0.1% (w/v)

saponin for 30 min at 37 °C. Coverslips were washed in PBS and incubated with the corresponding Alexa-conjugated secondary antibody diluted in immunofluorescence buffer for 30 min at 37 °C. Cells were washed with PBS for nuclei staining and incubated for 10 min at room temperature with 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL 4'6diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI). After the final wash, coverslips were mounted onto glass slides with Fluoromount-G (Electron Microscopy Science, USA).

#### 4.2.9 Fluorometric lysosomal assays with fluorescent probes

We evaluated the alteration of the pH of lysosomes using the LysoTracker Red DND-99 probe (Invitrogen). Cells grown on live-cell imaging plates before the assay was performed. After, cells were incubated with 100 nM of this probe in RPMI medium for the last 20 min of treatments at 37°C, in a humid environment and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were washed twice with PBS 1X, and the nucleus was stained with 2'-[4'-etoxifenil]-5-[4-metilpiperazin-1-il]-2,5'-bis-1h- benzimidazole trihidrocloruro trihydrate (Hoechst, Immunochemistry Technologies, LLC) for 10 min at 37°C, in a humid environment and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and finally washed 3 additional times with PBS 1X. Cells were maintained in DMEM medium with 25 mM HEPES for image capture in fluorescent confocal microscopy under 577 nm excitation conditions.

In parallel, we measured the activity of Cathepsin B, a lysosomal member of the papain-like family of cysteine proteases, with MagicRed kit (Immunochemistry Technologies, LLC). Cells grown on live-cell imaging plates and previously to assay were treated with 5  $\mu$ M CDDP for 24 h. Then, cells were loaded with MagicRed RPMI medium probe for the last 20 min of treatments at 37°C, in a humid environment, and with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were washed twice with PBS 1X, and the nucleus was stained with Hoechst (Immunochemistry Technologies, LLC) for 10 min at 37°C, in a humid environment and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, and finally washed 3 additional times with PBS. Cells were maintained in DMEM medium with 25 mM HEPES for image capture in confocal microscopy for image capture in fluorescent confocal microscopy under 577 nm excitation conditions.
#### 4.2.10 Fluorescent confocal microscopy

Fluorescence microscopy images were acquired using a TCS SP8 laser-scanning confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) equipped with a 63x oil immersion objective (1.4 NA) running the Leica Application Suite LAS X software. We quantified the number of positive structures per cell, the average fluorescence intensity, and the area of positive structures of the signal of MagicRed, LysoTracker-Red, LAMP1, LAMP2, CD63 and LC3B as required. Briefly, 16-bit images were identical settings avoiding signal saturation, and measurements were executed using ICY software (Quantitative Image Analysis Unit, Institut Pasteur, http://icy.bioimageanalysis.org/). A pipeline was created to completely automate image analysis by using the following sequential plugins: active contours (cell segmentation), hk-means (threshold detection), and wavelet spot detector (spot detection). For quantification of Manders coefficient colocalization, we used FIJI software version 2.1.0 (http://imagej.net/ software/fiji/) (Schindelin et al., 2012) plus the Just Another Colocalization Plugin (JACoP, 2.1.1 version) (BOLTE & CORDELIÈRES, 2006), adjusting the threshold of the images respect to control.

#### 4.2.11 Isolation of extracellular vesicles

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) derived from A2780, and A2780cis cells without treatment or with 5  $\mu$ M cisplatin treatment were isolated from conditioned medium (CM) by differential centrifugation. Approximately 13x10<sup>6</sup> cells were seeded on 150 cm<sup>2</sup> plates in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 5% exosome-free FBS (A2780, A2780cis) or RPMI-1640 supplemented with 5% exosome-free FBS and 5  $\mu$ M CDDP (A2780cis+CDDP). 24 h post-seeding the CM was collected and centrifuged at: (i) 300 × g for 5 min at 4°C, (ii) 2,000 × g for 20 min at 4°C, (iii) 10,000 × g for 35 min at 4°C with Himac P70AT rotor, (iv) 100,000 × g for 75 min at 4°C with Himac P70AT rotor, (iv) 100,000 × g for 75 min at 4°C with Himac P70AT rotor step. The resulting pellet from step four was washed in PBS (filtered on 0.2  $\mu$ m filter) and ultracentrifuged at 100,000 × g for 75 min at 4°C with Himac P70AT rotor to remove contaminating

proteins. The resulting pellet was resuspended in PBS 1X and stored at -80 °C until further use.

# 4.2.12 Nanoparticle tracking analysis of isolated extracellular vesicles enriched in exosomes

The size distribution and concentration of isolated EVs derived from A2780, A2780cis, A2780cis treated with cisplatin (A2780cis+CDDP) were evaluated by nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA). The EVs were diluted in PBS and analyzed on the Nanosight NS300 (Malvern, Universidad de los Andes) using a 532 nm laser and a 565 nm filter, and camera level parameters of 9 and detection threshold of 3.

# 4.2.13 Sulforhodamine B assay for the determination of the lethal dose 50 (LC<sub>50</sub>)

Cells were grown on 96 well tissue culture plates. 6 h after seeding, the different doses of CDDP were added and cells cultivated at 37 °C, in a humid environment and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 h. Then, cells were fixed in a final concentration of 20% trichloroacetic acid at 4°C for 1 h. After fixation, cells were washed in distilled H<sub>2</sub>O four times, discarding the complete volume. Subsequently, cells were stained with 100  $\mu$ L of 0.4% SRB (in 0.1% acetic acid) at room temperature for 1 hour. Cells were washed with 1% acetic acid four times. Stained cells were dried overnight, and then 100  $\mu$ L of 10 mM Tris-base was added and left in orbital shaking for 30 min. After, the absorbance was then measured at 492 nm in a spectrophotometer EPOCH2 microplate reader (BioTek). The LC<sub>50</sub> values associated with the cytotoxic effects of CDDP were calculated using Prism 9.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) using a non-linear regression model and variable slope model (log(agonist) vs. response). Two-way ANOVA analysis was performed to evaluate the differences between cell viability curves.

#### 4.2.14 Quantifications and Statistical Analysis

Densitometric quantification of the immunoblot signal was estimated using FIJI software (Schindelin et al., 2012), version 2.1.0 (http://imagej.net/ software/fiji/). For each condition, protein bands were quantified from at least three independent experiments.

Data analysis from densitometric quantifications, real-time qPCR, electron microscopy transmission, fluorescence confocal microscopy, and SRB-LC<sub>50</sub> were performed using Microsoft Excel 2021 (Microsoft Corporation) and Prism 9.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) for macOS Big Sur to generate corresponding charts and perform statistical analyses. Results are represented in graphs depicting the mean ± standard deviation (SD) or standard error of the mean (SEM) as indicated. Statistical significance was determined by non-parametric paired or parametric unpaired t-test, as indicated in each figure. P-values of \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, and \*\*\*p<0.001 were regarded as statistically significant and are indicated in the figures.

#### 5 RESULTS

## 5.1 A2780CIS CDDP-RESISTANT OVCA CELLS HAVE AN INCREASED MACHINERY FOR ILVS/EXOSOME BIOGENESIS.

Chemoresistant cells develop adaptative mechanisms to evade the cytotoxic effects produced by chemotherapy (S. H. Chen & Chang, 2019). In the CDDPresistant cellular model of OvCa, it has been suggested that the secretion of exosomes (Endosomal EVs < 200 nm) is implicated in the chemoresistance process, an event that could be exacerbated with the impairment of the lysosome function (Guerra et al., 2019; Safaei et al., 2005). To understand the role of exosomes in chemoresistance in OvCa, we used A2780 CDDP-sensitive OvCa cells and A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells. We initially characterized the number of CD63 structures, one of the most accepted markers for MVBs/ILVs organelles that originated exosomes (Mathieu et al., 2021). Bv immunofluorescence we observed a higher number of CD63 structures in A2780cis cells compared to A2780 cells (Fig 1A, B). Consistently, we found an increase in the average intensity of CD63 in A2780cis compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 1B). Interestingly, the CD63 positive structures showed a higher area in A2780cis compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 1A, B), a phenotype that suggests an enhancement in ILVs biogenesis (Peng et al., 2021). Next, by transmission electron microscopy, we investigated the number of MVBs and ILVs per cell comparing these two different cell types. Again, we observed A2780cis cells have an increase in the number and area of MVBs (Fig. 1C, D), confirming our findings with CD63 in Fig. 1A, B. Additionally, A2780cis cells have an increase in the number of ILVs per MVBs compared to A2780 cells (Fig 1C, E). Due to these findings, we anticipated that A2780cis cells would have increased levels of the machinery involved in MVBs/ILVs biogenesis. To test this, we measured the levels of proteins involved in ILVs/exosome including ALIX, HRS, and TSG101 protein markers. Western blot analysis showed that a 1.62 ± 0.37-fold increase of ALIX, 1.40 ± 0.11-fold increase of TSG101, and 2.61 ± 0.18-fold increase of HRS proteins in A2780cis cells have compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 1F, G). These data



**Figure 1.** Increased number of MVBs in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells. **(A)** Immunofluorescence detection of CD63 structures in A2780 and A2780cis, bar 10 μm. **(B)** Number, average intensity, and area of structure analysis of CD63 from (A) with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(C)** Ultrastructural analysis of MVBs and ILVs from Transmission Electron Microscopy of A2780 and A2780cis. **(D)** Semiquantitative analysis of the number of MVBs per cell and their area of A2780 and A2780cis from (C), with SEM error bar; \*\*P<0.01; Non-parametric t-Test. **(E)** Semiquantitative analysis of ILVs per MVBs in A2780 and A2780cis from (C), with SEM error bar; \*P<0.05; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(F)** Western blot of endogenous protein levels of HRS, ALIX, TSG101, and β-actin from A2780 and A2780cis cells. **(G)** Densitometric quantification of Western blot indicated in (B) with SD error bar; \*\*P<0.01; non-parametric paired t-Test. suggest that A2780cis CDDP-Resistant OvCa cells have an increased capacity for MVBs/ILVs biogenesis and exosomal secretion.

## 5.2 THE RAB27A GTPASE IMPLICATED IN EXOSOMAL SECRETION IS OVEREXPRESSED IN A2780CIS CDDP-RESISTANT OVCA CELLS

A2780cis cells have high levels of the cellular machinery needed for MVBs/ILVs biogenesis. Increased ILVs biogenesis does not implicate an increase in the exosome secretion because several other proteins are necessary to regulate exosome secretion by MVBs-PM fusion. To investigate whether the increased number of MVBs could indicate a higher capacity of these cells to secrete exosomes, we evaluated the protein levels of several RAB GTPases described as regulators of exosomal secretion (Jin et al., 2021; Messenger et al., 2018; Ostrowski et al., 2010; T. Wang et al., 2014; Wei et al., 2021). Among all GTPases tested including RAB11A, RAB22A, RAB27A, and RAB35, only RAB27A was found differentially high expressed in A2780cis cells compared to A2780 cells. Indeed, we observed a 6.00 ± 1.48-fold increase in the levels of RAB27A in A2780cis cells compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 2A, B). To explain this increase, we measured the mRNA levels of RAB27A by RT-qPCR comparing A2780 and A2780cis cells. Our results indicated a significant 3.48 ± 0.18-fold increase in the RAB27A mRNA in A2780cis cells compared to A2780 cells indicating the increase observed in RAB27A GTPase is due to a differential gene expression regulation (Fig. 2C). These findings strongly suggest expression of RAB27A is likely to be highly implicated in the acquisition of chemoresistance in A2780cis cells.

Next, due to the well-documented role of RAB27A in exosomal secretion, we investigated the quantity of exosomes secreted in A2780 and A2780cis cells. For this, we measured exosomal fractions secreted from these cell lines for 24 h under basal conditions. In addition to this, we analyzed the secretion of exosomes in A2780cis upon CDDP-treatment during 24 h. Treatment of CDDP in A2780 cells was not tested as a previous study demonstrated that CDDP does not induce secretion of exosomes in A2780 cells (Samuel et al., 2018). We referred to exosomes as those fractions enriched in small vesicles <200 nm (Fig. 2D), as



**Figure 2.** Increased levels of RAB27A in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells. **(A)** Western blot of endogenous protein levels of RAB11A, RAB22A, RAB27A, RAB35, and β-actin from A2780 and A2780cis cells. **(B)** Densitometric quantification of Western blot indicated in (A) with SD error bar; \*\*P<0.01, NS: Not significant; non-parametric paired t-Test. **(C)** Analysis of RAB27A expression concerning GAPDH by qPCR from A2780 and A2780cis cells, with SD error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; non-parametric paired t-Test. **(D)** Nano-tracking analysis from EVs isolated from A2780, A2780cis, and A2780cis cells treated with 5 μM of CDDP for 24 hrs., indicating the average particle size of the analyzed particles. **(E)** The number of exosomes (EVs<200 nm) per 10<sup>6</sup> cells from A2780, A2780cis, and A2780cis cells treated with 5 μM of CDDP for 24 hrs., with SD error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001, NS: Not significant; non-parametric paired t-Test.

previously described (Van Niel et al., 2018). Unexpectedly, we found A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells secreted exosomes at similar levels to A2780 CDDP-sensitive cells (Fig. 2E). However, a higher secretion of exosomes in response to CDDP was observed (Fig. 2E), indicating the pre-synthesized intracellular MVBs/ILVs organelles in A2780cis cells respond to specific stimulus, such as CDDP.

## 5.3 CDDP-RESISTANT A2780 OVCA CELLS SHOW AN IMPAIRED LYSOSOMAL FUNCTION IN COMPARISON TO QUIMIOSENSITIVE A2780 OVCA CELLS

Based on recent findings (Peng et al., 2021), the increased levels of molecular components for MVBs/ILVs biogenesis as well as the presence of larger MVB-like structures in A2780cis cells could be the result of disturbances in MVBs trafficking and function due to lysosomal dysfunction. In this context, it has been reported that C13 cells, a cellular model of OvCa CDDP-resistant cells, similar to A2780cis, have fewer and poorly functional lysosomes with respect to equivalent CDDPsensitive cells (Guerra et al., 2019; Safaei et al., 2005). As a result of these antecedents, we investigated the levels and function of lysosomal organelles between A2780 and A2780cis cells. First, we evaluated the levels of the structural lysosomal membrane proteins including LAMP1 and LAMP2 by Western blot. We observed a significant 5.65 ± 1.47-fold decrease in LAMP1 in A2780cis cells compared to A2780 cells. Intriguingly, and contrary to the effect on LAMP1, we observed a significant 2.14 ± 0.06-fold increase in LAMP2 in A2780cis cells compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 3A, B). Three different isoforms due to an alternative splicing of LAMP2 have been described (Cuervo & Dice, 2000). Although LAMP2B has been implicated in the delivery of cargoes into MVBs/ILVs (Hung & Leonard, 2015; Z. Li et al., 2020; Liang et al., 2020) and in the biogenesis of exosomes (T. Yamamoto et al., 2022), with the tools available in our laboratory we decided to focus on the characterization of LAMP1 and Cathepsin D positive structures, two abundant proteins of lysosomal organelles (Lübke et al., 2009;









0-



37

**Figure 3.** LAMP1 and Cathepsin D lysosomal-like structures are reduced in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells. **(A)** Western blot of LAMP1, LAMP2 (A, B, C isoform), and β-actin from A2780 and A2780cis cells. **(B)** Densitometric quantification of Western blot indicated in (A), with SD error bar, \*\*\*P<0.001; non-parametric paired t-Test. **(C)** Immunofluorescence detection of LAMP1 and Cathepsin D structures of A2780 and A2780cis cells; bar 10 µm. **(D)** The number of structures analysis of LAMP1 and Cathepsin D (CathD) from (C), with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(E)** The average intensity of structure analysis of LAMP1 and CathD from (C), with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(E)** The average intensity of structure analysis of LAMP1 and CathD from (C), with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(E)** The average intensity of structure analysis of LAMP1 and CathD from (C), with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(E)** The average intensity of structure analysis of LAMP1 and CathD from (C), with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test.

Oberle et al., 2010; Pi et al., 2017). By immunofluorescence, we observed a strong decrease in LAMP1 and Cathepsin D structures in A2780cis compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 3C). Quantification analysis confirmed A2780cis shows a significant reduction in the number of LAMP1 and Cathepsin D positive structures, compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 3D). Similarly, the average intensity of LAMP1 and Cathepsin D positive structures was significantly reduced in A2780cis compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 3E). Next, we investigated whether these differences in LAMP1 and Cathepsin D lysosomal proteins were indicative of lysosomal function impairment. For this, we performed labeling of acidic compartments with the probe Lysotracker in living cells. Images obtained with confocal microscopy showed a significant reduction in the labeling of acidic structures in A2780cis compared to A2780 (Fig. 4A). Quantification analysis confirmed our findings, observing that A2780cis have a lower number of Lysotracker punctate structures compared to A2870 cells (Fig. 4B). Moreover, average intensity quantification also showed a significant decrease in this parameter in A2780cis compared to A2870 cells, an indicative of deacidification of acidic compartments (Fig. 4B).

Due to the fact that the acidic environment is critical for lysosomal hydrolase activities, we tested whether the reduction in pH in A2780cis cells caused a reduction in the activity of a lysosomal hydrolase. For this, live cells were labeled with the Magic Red probe, a tool used to quantify the activity of the lysosomal acidic hydrolase Cathepsin B (Kundu et al., 2018). Images obtained with confocal microscopy were analyzed to quantify average intensity of Magic Red positive punctate structures. This analysis showed a significant reduction in this parameter in A2780cis cells, with respect to A2780 cells (Fig. 4D). Finally, we tested the levels of RAB7, a GTPase that promotes cargo traffic to lysosomes (Bucci et al., 2000; Stroupe, 2018; Vanlandingham & Ceresa, 2009b). Surprisingly, we found that levels of RAB7 were significantly 1.77  $\pm$  0.44-fold decreased in A2780cis compared to A2780 cells by Western blot (Fig. 4E, F). Together, all these findings demonstrate A2780cis cells have a reduced lysosomal function compared to









**Figure 4.** Lysosomal acidity and function are reduced in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells. **(A)** Analysis of LysoTracker from A2780 and A2780cis cells; bar 10 µm. **(B)** The number and average intensity analysis of LysoTracker from (A), with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(C)** Analysis of MagicRed probe from A2780 and A2780cis cells; bar 10 µm. **(D)** The average intensity analysis of MagicRed from (C); with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(D)** Western blot of endogenous levels of RAB7A and  $\beta$ -actin from A2780 and A2780cis cells. **(E)** Densitometric quantification of Western blot indicated in (D), with SD error bar; \*\*\*P<0.01; non-parametric paired t-Test. **(F)** Analysis of RAB27A expression concerning GAPDH by qPCR from A2780 and A2780cis cells, with SD error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; non-parametric paired t-Test.

A2780 cells, a phenotype that could be related with a poor delivery of critical components by the reduction in key molecules such as RAB7.

### 5.4 RAB27A KD REESTABLISHES LYSOSOMAL FUNCTION IN CDDP-RESISTANT A2780CIS OVCA CELLS

Impairment of lysosomal activity correlated with an increased capacity of exosomal secretion has been described in some neurodegenerative diseases, suggesting the existence of a balance between lysosomal function and exosome secretion (Adams et al., 2021; Eitan et al., 2016; Guix et al., 2021; D. Huang et al., 2022; Miranda et al., 2018; Ortega et al., 2019; Strauss et al., 2010; van de Vlekkert et al., 2019; Villarroya-Beltri et al., 2016; J. Zhang et al., 2021). Our results indicate that A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells acquired the capacity to secrete more exosomes in response to CDDP probably as a compensatory response to lysosomal impairment. In this context, we investigated the potential effect of a blockage on exosomal secretion in A2780cis cells. Moreover, A2780cis cells have an increase in RAB27A expression, we performed stable silencing of RAB27A in A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells with the expression of a specific shRNA using lentiviral particle infection, as previously described (Blanc & Vidal, 2018; Bobrie et al., 2012; H. Huang et al., 2021; Ostrowski et al., 2010; Salimu et al., 2017). As control, A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells stably expressing a shRNA against luciferase named as shLuc cells were included. A2780/shLuc, A2780cis/shLuc, and A2780cis/shRAB27A puromycin resistant cells were tested for RAB27A expression by western blot. As expected, we observed a significant decrease of RAB27A protein levels in A2780cis/shRAB27A cells compared to A2780cis/shLuc cells, observing similar levels than in A2780/shLuc cells (Fig. 5A, B). Next, with the rational that RAB27A silencing could switch the trafficking of MVBs on route for secretion (positive to CD63), now to MVBs on route to lysosomes (positive to CD63 and Cathepsin D), we studied the colocalization of CD63 positive structures with Cathepsin D, a hydrolase enriched in lysosomal organelles. In fact, it is known CD63 has a lysosome targeting motif that regulates its sorting into MVBs/LEs (Mathieu et al., 2021; Takino et al., 2003). Interestingly,











\*\*

**Figure 5.** RAB27A silencing expression promotes the endo-lysosomal pathway. (**A**) Western blot of endogenous protein levels of RAB27A and β-actin from A2780 shLuc, A2780cis shLuc, and A2780cis shRAB27A cells. (**B**) Densitometric quantification of Western blot indicated in (A), with SD error bar; \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001; non-parametric paired t-Test. (**C**) Immunofluorescence detection of CD63 and Cathepsin D structures in A2780 shLuc, A2780cis shLuc, and A2780cis shRAB27A cells, bar 10 µm; arrowhead indicates colocalization spots. (**D**) Mander's colocalization coefficient analysis between CD63 and CathD from (C), with SEM error bar; \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001, NS: Not Significant; parametric unpaired t-Test. (**E**) The number and average intensity analysis of CD63 from (C), with SEM error bar; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. this analysis showed that RAB27A silencing causes an increase in the colocalization of CD63 with Cathepsin D in A2780cis/shRAB27A cells, compared to A2780cis/shLuc (Fig. 5D), observing a similar pattern of colocalization to A2780/shLuc cells (Fig. 5D). Quantification analysis confirmed this conclusion, observing a significant increase in the colocalization between these two markers in A2780cis/shRAB27A compared to A2780/shLuc cells (Fig. 5D), reaching similar levels to those found in A2780/shLuc cells. In addition, we found that the increased number and average intensity of CD63 structures observed in A2780cis/shLuc cells, in comparison to A2780/shLuc cells, was significantly reduced upon RAB27A silencing (Fig. 5E). Together, our findings suggest RAB27A silencing in CDDP-resistant OvCa A2780cis cells revert the type of CD63-MVBs to a phenotype like the one observed in CDDP-sensitive OvCa A2780 cells.

Further, we investigated whether reduction in the levels of RAB27A could cause a recovery in lysosomal function. To this, we studied the levels of the membrane lysosomal protein LAMP1 in A2780/shLuc, A2780cis/shLuc. and A2780cis/shRAB27A puromycin resistant cells by western blot. We found RAB27A silencing promotes a significant increase of LAMP1 levels in A2780cis cells, like the levels found in A2780 CDDP sensitive cells (Fig. 6A, B), results that strongly indicate an enhancement in lysosomal function. To investigate this hypothesis, we first evaluated levels of RAB7, which has been shown to have a positive impact in lysosomal biogenesis (Bucci et al., 2000; Stroupe, 2018; Vanlandingham & Ceresa, 2009b). In agreement with LAMP1, we found silencing of RAB27A causes an increase in the levels of RAB7 protein in A2780cis/shRAB27A cells, compared to A2780cis/shLuc cells, to comparable levels found in A2780/shLuc cells (Fig. 6A, B). Next, we investigated whether a reduction in RAB27A protein levels could enhance lysosomal function measuring the number of LAMP1 and Cathepsin D positive structures. In agreement to our previous findings, we found a strong recovery in LAMP1 and Cathepsin D positive punctate structures in A2780cis/shRAB27A, like the levels found in A2780/shLuc cells (Fig. 6C). Quantification analysis confirmed this conclusion, observing





В



С	A2780 shLuc	Cather	osin D Merc	ge () () () ()
	A2780cis shLuc			
	A2780cis shRAB27A			





46

**Figure 6.** RAB27A KD causes a recovery of lysosome-like structures in CDDPresistant OvCa cells. (**A**) Western blot of endogenous protein levels of LAMP1 and RAB7, and β-actin from A2780 shLuc, A2780cis shLuc, and A2780cis shRAB27A cells. (**B**) Densitometric quantification of Western blot indicated in (A) with SD error bar; \*P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01,\*\*\*P<0.001, NS: Not Significant; nonparametric paired t-Test. (**C**) Immunofluorescence detection of LAMP1 and Cathepsin D structures in A2780 shLuc, A2780cis shLuc, and A2780cis shRAB27A cells; bar 10 μm. (**D**) The number of structure analysis of LAMP1 and CathD from (C), with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001, NS: Not Significant; parametric unpaired t-Test. (**E**) The average intensity of LAMP1 and CathD positive structures from (C), with SEM error bar; \*P<0.05, \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. RAB27A silencing in A2780cis causes a significant increase in the number and average intensity of LAMP1 and cathepsin D positive structures, to comparable levels found in A2780/shLuc cells (Fig. 6D, E). Our findings demonstrate RAB27A silencing reverts the phenotype of CDDP-resistant OvCa A2780cis cells to a phenotype similar to the CDDP-sensitive OvCa A2780 cells.

Moreover, because the reduced number in acidic lysosomes and in Cathepsin B activity found in A2780cis, respect A2780 cells, we evaluated whether RAB27A silencing in A2780cis cells could rescue the number of acidic and active lysosomal organelles. As before, we used the LysoTracker probe to measure the number of acidic compartments. Surprisingly, we found RAB27A silencing causes a significant enhancement in the number of LysoTracker positive structures, reaching levels even higher than the number found in A2780/shLuc cells. Similarly, we observed that RAB27A silencing causes an increase in the average intensity of LysoTracker confirming the recovery in lysosomal acidity in A2780cis cells (Fig. 7A, B). In agreement with this conclusion, A2780cis/shRAB27A cells showed a significant increase in MagicRed average intensity compared to A2780cis/shLuc (Fig. 7C, D), confirming the rescue in lysosomal activity. Together, our findings uncovered that silencing of RAB27A expression is a powerful strategy to revert the RAB7 dependent endo-lysosomal pathway in A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells, opening an alternative to revert CDDP chemoresistance.

### 5.5 SILENCING OF RAB27A ACTS AS A CHEMOSENSITIZER STRATEGY IN CDDP-RESISTANT A2780CIS OVCA CELLS

The recovery in the RAB7 dependent endo-lysosomal pathway in A2780cis cells with RAB27A silencing suggests that this phenotype could have an impact on the sensibility of these to CDDP. To investigate this, we measured the Lethal Dose<sub>50</sub> (LD<sub>50</sub>) to CDDP using the Sulforhodamine B (SRB) assay in A2780cis/shLuc and A2780cis/shRAB27 cells after 24 h of treatment. Our analysis indicates RAB27A silencing causes a significant negative impact on cell viability upon treatment with



D



49

**Figure 7.** RAB27A KD induces a recovery of the lysosomal acidity and function in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells. **(A)** Analysis of LysoTracker from A2780 shLuc, A2780cis shLuc, and A2780cis shRAB27A cells; bar 10 μm. **(B)** The number and average intensity analysis of LysoTracker from (A), with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(C)** Analysis of MagicRed probe from A2780 shLuc, A2780cis shLuc, and A2780cis shRAB27A cells; bar 10 μm. **(D)** The average intensity analysis of MagicRed from (C); with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test.





**Figure 8.** The interruption of exosome secretion promotes chemosensitivity to cisplatin in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells. **(A)** Cell viability percentage curves obtained from the average of biological replicates of A2780cis shLuc and A2780cis shRAB27A treated with increasing doses of CDDP; indicating the comparative analysis of curves by two-way ANOVA, \*\*P<0.01; and the general Lethal Dosis<sub>50</sub> (LD<sub>50</sub>) to CDDP for each cell. **(B)** Comparative analysis of LD<sub>50</sub> to CDDP of 2780cis shLuc and A2780cis shRAB27A obtained from each biological replicate, with SD error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; nonparametric paired t-Test. **(C)** The A2780cis resistant cells had less lysosome in number and activity but more MVBs concerning A2780 sensitive cells secreted in response to CDDP. The absence of RAB27A in A2780cis promoted an increase in lysosome number and activity but a reduction in MVBs (such as the phenotype of A2780 sensitive cells), promoting chemosensitivity to CDDP.

CDDP (Fig. 8A). In addition, a reduction in LD<sub>50</sub> from 27.60  $\pm$  5.89  $\mu$ M for A2780cis/shLuc to 14.69  $\pm$  1.61  $\mu$ M in A2780cis/shRAB27 cells was observed (Fig 8A). Quantification of the LD<sub>50</sub> in both cell lines confirmed the LD<sub>50</sub> decreased by half with the reduction of RAB27A (Fig. 8B). These findings confirm that RAB27A silencing is a potent strategy to revert CDDP chemoresistance in OvCa A2780cis resistant cells switching to a phenotype of OvCa A2780 sensitive cells (Fig. 8C).

## 5.6 TARGETING AUTOPHAGOSOMES AND AMPHISOMES AS AN ALTERNATIVE STRATEGY TO CONTROL RAB27A/RAB7 RATIO IN CDDP-RESISTANT A2780CIS OVCA CELLS

MVBs are dynamic organelles that can constantly fuse with autophagosomes leading to the formation of hybrid organelles called amphisomes. Importantly, amphisomes can also facilitate exosome secretion, a pathway directly implicated in the chemoresistance of OvCa cells to CDDP. Recent findings have suggested that lysosomal impairment triggers the formation of amphisomes promoting exosome secretion (Peng et al., 2021). In agreement with this idea, it has been reported that reduction in autophagosome biogenesis by the transient silencing of BECLIN1, a protein known to mediate autophagosomal biogenesis, causes chemosensitization of A2780cis cells to CDDP (Bao et al., 2015). However, the mechanism that could explain the chemosensitization phenotype by the absence of BECLIN-1 is unknown. As our findings showed that A2780cis have an increased number of CD63-positive MVBs we asked whether these secretory MVBs could in part correspond to amphisomes. To evaluate this, we studied the colocalization of CD63-positive punctate structures with LC3B, a well-known marker of autophagosomes in A2780cis and A2780 cells by immunofluorescence confocal microscopy (Klionsky, Abdel-Aziz, et al., 2021; Tanida et al., 2004). Interestingly, we found a significant increase in the number of LC3B punctate structures in A2780cis cells compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 9A, B), that is in agreement with previous findings (Bao et al., 2015) indicates that CDDP-resistant cells have an increase in autophagosomal biogenesis. Moreover, we found a significant increase in the colocalization of CD63 and LC3B positive punctate















**Figure 9.** Increased number of amphisome-like structures in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells. **(A)** Immunofluorescence detection of LC3B and CD63 structures in A2780 and A2780cis cells, bar 10 µm; arrowhead indicates colocalization spots. **(B)** The number LC3B structures from (A), with SEM error bar; \*P<0.05; parametric unpaired t-Test. **(C)** Mander's colocalization coefficient analysis between LC3B and CD63 from (A), with SEM error bar; \*\*P<0.001; Non-parametric unpaired t-Test. **(D)** Ultrastructural analysis of amphisome-like structures from Transmission Electron Microscopy of A2780 and A2780cis; arrowhead indicates the characteristic autophagosome membrane-derived inside of MVBs. **(E)** Quantification of amphisome-like structures per cell in A2780 and A2780 and A2780cis from (D), with SEM error bar; \*\*P<0.01; parametric unpaired t-Test.

structures in A2780cis cells compared to A2780 cells (Fig. 9A, C), a result that was confirmed at an ultrastructural level by TEM (Fig. 9D, E) showing characteristic amphisome-like structures with the presence of ILVs and autophagic structures as single membranes (indicated by arrowhead in Fig. 9C) (Peng et al., 2021). All these findings demonstrate CDDP-resistant OvCa A2780 cells contain CD63-positive hybrid amphisomes. We investigated the effect of autophagosomal inhibition in A2780cis cells further. For this, we performed transient silencing of FIP200, a crucial member of the ULK1/2-protein complex implicated in the initiation of autophagosomal formation (Hara et al., 2008; Nishimura et al., 2017). A2780cis cells were transiently transfected with either a non-target siRNA (Ctrl) or a specific siRNA against the coding region of FIP200 to induce KD of FIP200 during 72 h. First, we confirmed the efficient silencing of FIP200 by western blot analysis (Fig. 10A, B). Next, we tested the functional effect of FIP200 KD analyzing levels of SQSTM1/p62 and lipidated LC3B (LC3-II) versus non-lipidated LC3B (LC3-I) (Fig. 10C). As expected, by western blot analysis we observed that silencing of FIP200 caused an enhancement in the SQSTM1/p62 (Fig. 10D) and an inhibition in the levels of LC3B-II and the ratio LC3-II/LC3-I (Fig. 10E). Together confirming silencing of FIP200 causes an efficient inhibition of autophagosome biogenesis in A2780cis.

Finally, considering the role of autophagosomes in amphisomes, we investigated the impact of autophagosome inhibition in the levels of RAB27A and RAB7 proteins by western blot in A2780cis cells. Surprisingly, we found FIP200 silencing levels cause significant changes in these two GTPases, observing a decrease in RAB27A and an increase in RAB7 (Fig. 11A, B). Moreover, and similar to our previous findings with RAB27A silencing , we found that FIP200 silencing causes a significant reduction in the number and average intensity of CD63 punctate structures in A2780cis cells, compared to control cells (Fig. 11C, D), strongly suggesting inhibition of autophagosomes have a positive impact in the endolysosomal pathway.



**Figure 10.** The FIP200 silencing reduces autophagy in CDDP-resistant OvCa cells. **(A)** Western blot of endogenous proteins levels of FIP200 and  $\beta$ -actin from A2780cis cells transfected with siRNA Non-Target (A2780cis Ctrl) or siRNA for FIP200 (A2780cis FIP200 KD). **(B)** Densitometric quantification of Western blot indicated in (A), with SD error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; nonparametric paired t-Test. **(C)** Western blot of endogenous proteins levels of SQSTM1/p62, LC3B and  $\beta$ -actin from A2780cis cells transfected with siRNA Non-Target (A2780cis Ctrl) or siRNA for FIP200 (A2780cis FIP200 KD). **(D)** Densitometric quantification of Western blot indicated in (C), with SD error bar; \*P<0.05; nonparametric paired t-Test. **(C)** LC3B conversion analysis from (C) represented as LC3B-II/LC3B-I reasons, with SD error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; nonparametric paired t-Test.



**Figure 11.** FIP200 silencing promotes the endo-lysosomal pathway in CDDPresistant OvCa cells. **(A)** Western blot of endogenous proteins levels of RAB27A, RAB7, and  $\beta$ -actin from A2780cis cells transfected with siRNA Non-Target (A2780cis Ctrl) or siRNA for FIP200 (A2780cis FIP200 KD). **(B)** Densitometric quantification of Western blot indicated in (C), with SD error bar; \*P<0.05; nonparametric paired t-Test. **(C)** Immunofluorescence detection of CD63 structures in A2780cis cells transfected with siRNA Non-Target (A2780cis Ctrl) or siRNA for FIP200 (A2780cis FIP200 KD); bar 10 µm. **(D)** The number and average intensity of structures analysis of CD63 from (E), with SEM error bar; \*\*\*P<0.001; parametric unpaired t-Test.

#### 6 **DISCUSSION**

Exosomes are currently a hot spot of cancer research due their participation in several processes which support tumor progression such as the acquisition of chemoresistance. Although it is known that exosomes promote cancer development, and that secretion might be exacerbated in response to adaptive cellular processes contributing to chemoresistance. Thus, the development of new intervention strategies is currently an urgent global challenge. Exosomes have been identified as key players in the acquisition of chemoresistance to CDDP, particularly in ovarian cancer (Nakamura et al., 2019; Safaei et al., 2005), as a high percentage of patients develop resistance to this drug during treatment (Galluzzi et al., 2012; D. W. Shen et al., 2012). Therefore, understanding the molecular and cellular mechanisms related to the role of exosomes in this context may provide the discovery of new strategies of intervention oriented at attacking the progression of aggressive ovarian tumors acquiring chemoresistance to CDDP, resulting in a direct impact on the survival rate of patients.

Exosomal secretion can be modulated at a molecular level by proteins that mediates the biogenesis of MVBs/ILVs and/or by controlling critical steps in the trafficking and fusion of these organelles with the PM (Steinbichler et al., 2019; Van Niel et al., 2018). Despite evidence indicating an increased secretion of exosomes in response to CDDP (Bandari et al., 2020; Mosquera-Heredia et al., 2021; Steinbichler et al., 2019; S. Yu et al., 2015), it still remains unexplored whether CDDP-resistant OvCa could be correlated with changes in the proteins that regulate MVBs/ILVs cellular biology. In this PhD thesis we revealed that the A2780cis CDDP-resistant model of OvCa displayed an increased number of MVBs/ILVs in comparison to the A2780 CDDP-sensitive model of OvCa (Fig. 1A, B, C, D). These findings agree with the results that A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells express high levels of ESCRTs proteins in comparison to A2780 CDDP-sensitive cells (Fig. 1E, F). To complete/further enhance knowledge on the molecular machinery implicated in MVBs/ILVs biogenesis, future studies are

needed to assess the role of the ESCRT-independent pathways and their contribution to the chemoresistance of A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells.

Besides proteins related to biogenesis, RAB GTPases also plays a crucial role in the control of MVBs/ILVs (Zerial & McBride, 2001). Between all RABs known to participate as regulators in the trafficking and fusion of MVBs with the PM to achieve exosome secretion, we discovered that A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells have high levels of RAB27A expression, compared to A2780 CDDP-sensitive cells (Fig. 2A, B, C). In this regard, it is possible that during the acquisition of resistance to CDDP, tumoral cells adapt activating the machinery related to MVBs/ILVs biogenesis and secretion through the overexpression of ESCRT machinery components and RAB27A. It is known that mutation in the DNA (Fodale et al., 2011; Wallace, 2012) and non-mutational epigenetic reprogramming gene expression (through non-coding RNA (ncRNA), DNA methylation, and histone modification) change the gene expression of the cell affecting cellular adaptative processes (Chapman-Rothe et al., 2013; Hanahan, 2022; Xie et al., 2021). In fact, A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells have different levels of DNA methylation (Chan et al., 2021; Strathdee et al., 1999; Zeller et al., 2012). It is necessary to evaluate the existence of DNA mutation and non-mutational epigenetic reprogramming in the genes evaluated in this thesis that could explain the differential expression observed in A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells.

Recently, it has been reported that the transcription factor EGR1, which controls RAB27A expression, is overexpressed in A2780cis cells (Ma et al., 2020; Rouillard et al., 2016). In addition, another transcription program involved in the expression of RAB27A is the canonical NF-kB pathway. CDDP activates NF-kB increasing the expression of RAB27A through RelA-p60, a mechanism that has been involved in CDDP chemoresistance in bladder cancer (Kan et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2017). One aspect to be explored in future studies to explain the increased levels in the machinery needed for MVBs/ILVs biogenesis and secretion of exosomes is the contribution of genetic/epigenetic changes. Another possible explanation for the upregulation of RAB27A could be related with a mechanism independent of the gene expression regulation, connected with the function of

KIBRA and the ubiquitin-proteasome system (Song et al., 2019). This recent study proposed that KIBRA-RAB27A interaction prevents RAB27A proteasomal degradation, giving the possibility that an upregulation of KIBRA could explain the increase in the RAB27A protein levels. However, we tested levels of KIBRA, observing no changes between A2780 and A2780cis cells (data not shown). It is plausible that multifactorial events could contribute in a synergic manner to the increase in RAB27A, something to be investigated in a future project.

Previous studies suggested that the C13 CDDP-resistant model of OvCa cells secreted more exosomes than its sensitive counterpart cellular model (Safaei et al., 2005). According to our findings, we expected a higher basal secretion of exosomes in A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells compared to A2780 CDDP-sensitive cells. However, we did not observe any difference in the basal secretion of exosomes when we compared both cell lines, observing only an increase in the secretion of exosomes when A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells were treated with CDDP (Fig. 2E). An explanation for this finding could be related to the ability of CDDP to induce post-translational modifications (PTMs) in RAB27A or in its effectors, and therefore causing the activation of RAB27A to promote exosome secretion. Different PTMs regulate the localization and function of different RABs including phosphorylation, AMPylation, palmitoylation, ubiquitination, among others (Homma et al., 2021; Shinde & Maddika, 2018).

The mechanisms that determine the fine regulation between MVBs on route to the PM and/or lysosomes are poorly understood (Huotari & Helenius, 2011; Van Niel et al., 2018). However, its common origin must be critical in the final function and trafficking of these organelles. One hypothesis in the field is that these two trafficking pathways are regulated by a fine balance between lysosomal degradative function and the secretory capacity of cells through exosomes (Eitan et al., 2016). Our findings demonstrate that tumoral CDDP-resistant OvCa cells have a poor content of lysosomes, and that the remanent lysosomes present are not even acidic enough to be functional (Figs. 3 and 4). In agreement with previous findings (Kalayda et al., 2008; Safaei et al., 2005) we propose that this feature promotes the biogenesis of exosomes for secretion in response to CDDP

(Fig. 2E). Additionally, a dysfunctional endo-lysosomal pathway in A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells may be related with the downregulation on RAB7 (Fig. 4D, E). Lysosomal dysfunction could also be related to alterations in the delivery of hydrolases or proteins needed for pH maintenance, something that could be determined at the levels of the trans-Golgi network (TGN) (Saftig & Klumperman, 2009), a crucial sorting station for lysosomal maintenance (Trivedi et al., 2020; Yang & Wang, 2021). Why is RAB7 downregulated? In 2021 Peng et al. proposed that RAB7 expression is negatively regulated by IKK $\beta$ , promoting lysosomal dysfunction and exosome secretion (Peng et al., 2021). However, whether this mechanism plays a role in A2780cis remains unknown.

One mechanism that contributes to CDDP chemoresistance is the inefficient entry of this compound within tumoral cells. This is regulated at different levels including a decrease uptake of CDDP, an increase drug efflux, and mechanisms involved in drug inactivation (Norouzi-Barough et al., 2018; Stordal et al., 2012; Tchounwou et al., 2021; Tong et al., 2019). In this line, it has been recently suggested that lysosomes have a drug sequestering function, diminishing the availability of the drugs (among them, CDDP) within the cells (Galluzzi et al., 2014; Geisslinger et al., 2020; Zhai & El Hiani, 2020; Zhitomirsky & Assaraf, 2016). Based on our findings in A2780cis it is possible that accumulative sequestration of CDDP within lysosomes could be responsible for the lysosomal function observed contributing to the activation of adaptive responses necessary for the acquisition of chemoresistance. We propose that the RAB27A-dependent exosome secretion pathway is a crucial pathway activated under lysosomal dysfunction and is a critical feature for CDDP chemoresistance (Fig. 2). This can be explained by the activation of cellular plasticity mechanisms, a concept considered as a new hallmark of cancer (Hanahan, 2022) that includes the repression of genes associated with original phenotype observed in A2780 cells and the activation of genes associated with the new cell phenotype found in A2780cis cells (Merrell & Stanger, 2016).

A key question to be answered is whether the exosomes are mediators of CDDP chemoresistance in OvCa cells (Cossart & Helenius, 2014; Elkin et al., 2016; Kiss

& Botos, 2009; Mayor et al., 2014). A proposed function for exosomes is related with the expulsion/efflux of CDDP. Recently, Petruzzelli et. al described that the copper transporter ATP7B is redistributed to MVBs structures after exposure to CDDP in IGROV-CP20 CDDP-resistant OvCa cells and may contribute to the loading of CDDP into MVBs/ILVs for its secretion through exosomes (Petruzzelli et al., 2022). This agrees with the phenotype in C13 CDDP-resistant cells (Safaei et al., 2005). We demonstrated A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells have increased levels of components of the ESCRT-dependent pathway and of RAB27A, all key proteins implicated in exosome secretion (Fig. 1E, F and Fig 2A, B). Because ESCRTs mediate other relevant processes related with the maintenance of cellular homeostasis (Vietri et al., 2020), instead we investigated the effect of RAB27A through silencing in A2780cis CDDP-chemoresistance. As demonstrated in previous studies (Blanc & Vidal, 2018; Bobrie et al., 2012; H. Huang et al., 2021; Ostrowski et al., 2010; Salimu et al., 2017), we interrupted the exosome secretion by stable RAB27A KD in A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells. This model gave us a good tool to evaluate the role of exosomal secretion in chemoresistance to CDDP (Fig. 5A, B). Interestingly, together with the recovery of the lysosomal function we observed that RAB27A silencing promoted an increase in C63/Cathepsin D colocalization, strongly suggesting the potentiation of the entire endo-lysosomal pathway (Fig. 5C, D). Interestingly, this phenotype was accompanied by the upregulation of RAB7 levels (Fig 6A, B), suggesting a closed regulatory mechanism between these two GTPases, an aspect that has been poorly explored. Importantly, by affecting the capacity of cells in terms of exosome secretion revert chemosensitivity of tumoral OvCa cells, opening an attractive alternative for drug discovery. Moreover, because chemosensitivity is also correlated with an increment in lysosomal function it becomes interesting to investigate whether a stimulus that promotes lysosomal biogenesis could have a chemosensitivity effect on tumoral OvCa cells in the future.

One interesting system that regulates lysosomal biogenesis and function is the <u>C</u>oordinated <u>Lysosomal Expression And Regulation</u> (CLEAR) pathway that operates through the gene <u>Transcription Factor EB</u> (TFEB). Several lysosomal
proteins such as LAMP1 and RAB7 are regulated by this system (Palmieri et al., 2011). This antecedent opens the possibility that RAB27A silencing and/or blockage of exosomal secretion could activate TFEB, explaining the increase in LAMP1, Cathepsin D, and RAB7 in CDDP resistant OvCa cells, something to be explored in the future. Our findings could also be relevant in the context of neurodegenerative diseases. RAB27A silencing could be a good strategy to promote lysosome biogenesis such as in Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Niemann Pick Disease Type C, diseases that are characterized by lysosomal function impairment and enhanced exosome secretion (Adams et al., 2021; Eitan et al., 2016; Guix et al., 2021; D. Huang et al., 2022; Miranda et al., 2018; Ortega et al., 2019; Strauss et al., 2010; van de Vlekkert et al., 2019; Villarroya-Beltri et al., 2016; J. Zhang et al., 2021).

In recent years, several compounds have been proposed as blockers of the exosome pathway in terms of their biogenesis and/or secretion (Moloudizargari et al., 2018; Huarui Zhang et al., 2020). Particularly, a few of them have been developed as potential specific inhibitors of RAB27A activity (Huarui Zhang et al., 2020). Validating these compounds in the future could provide excellent strategies to be tested in the context of chemoresistance to CDDP in OvCa cellular models as well as in neurodegenerative diseases.

Surprisingly, CDDP is not able to induce secretion of exosomes in A2780 CDDPsensitive cells (Samuel et al., 2018). In our findings that phenotype could be explained by the high levels of RAB7 and/or low levels of RAB27A, GTPase ratio that could be indicative of an active endo-lysosomal pathway. An opposite scenario is observed in A2780 CDDP-resistant cells offering an excellent intervention strategy . In summary, we propose that the ratio between RAB7 and RAB27A is key in determining the balance between either an active endolysosome degradative pathway or a high cellular capacity for exosomal secretion as in agreement with previous findings (Eitan et al., 2016).

Two isoforms of RAB27 have been described (Ostrowski et al., 2010). In some cell types, RAB27A and RAB27B can have redundant or cooperative functions (Mitsunori Fukuda, 2013). In this study we have characterized the role of RAB27A.

For the existence of two isoforms, it is necessary to investigate whether RAB27B is expressed or not in A2780 CDDP-resistant cells, mostly because it is not ubiquitously expressed (Mitsunori Fukuda, 2013; Van Niel et al., 2018). Further studies could explore how to determine the effect of RAB27B in A2780 CDDP-resistant cells.

In our characterization, we found that CDDP-resistant OvCa cells have higher levels of LAMP2 compared to sensitive cells. The antibody tested detected the three isoforms described, LAMP2A, LAMP2B, and LAMP2C (Fig. 3A, B). LAMP2A is a key protein in chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA) (Tekirdag & Cuervo, 2018). In fact, CMA is known to contribute to resistance to CDDP in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (Cao et al., 2021). Similar to LAMP2A, LAMP2C mediates the degradation of RNA and DNA by promoting their entry into lysosomes (Hase et al., 2015). Contrary to LAMP2A and LAMP2C, LAMP2B is found enriched in the limiting membrane of EVs (Hung & Leonard, 2015; Z. Li et al., 2020; Liang et al., 2020), postulating that it plays a role in the delivery of specific cargos into exosomes and in the biogenesis of exosomes (T. Yamamoto et al., 2022). Thus, it is possible that the increased levels of LAMP2 in CDDP-resistant cells could correspond to LAMP2B, adding another protein implicated in MVBs/ILVs biogenesis. The role of LAMP2B in chemoresistance of OvCa cells to CDDP should be further investigated.

Our findings also demonstrated that CDDP-resistant cells have an increased number in autophagosomes and amphisomes structures compared to sensitive cells. In this regard, the contribution of autophagy to cancer biology depends on the tumor type, disease stage, and host factors. In bone and colorectal cancers, autophagy plays a role in chemoresistance (Klionsky, Petroni, et al., 2021). Currently, several compounds that stimulate or interrupt autophagy have been investigated in different cancer models (Bhat et al., 2018; Nam, 2021; Whitmarsh-Everiss & Laraia, 2021). The status of lysosomes is essential for the autophagy process (Z. Zhang et al., 2021). Our findings show that lysosomal impairment in A2780cis cells correlated with an increase of autophagosomes, probably due to an inefficient fusion with lysosomes which has been shown to be affected by

disturbances in acidification (A. Yamamoto et al., 1998; Z. Zhang et al., 2021). In many examples, accumulation of autophagosomes compromised cell viability (Button et al., 2017; Kawai et al., 2007; A. Yamamoto et al., 1998). In our model, we did not observe cell viability changes under basal conditions. Importantly, we observed an accumulation of amphisomes observed by the colocalization of CD63 and LC3B punctate structures. Due to the role of amphisome in secretion (Y. Da Chen et al., 2017; Ganesan & Cai, 2021; Peng et al., 2021; Salimi et al., 2020), in this thesis we propose that this hybrid organelle is likely to play a role in the secretion of exosomes by a mechanism dependent on RAB27A (Y. Da Chen et al., 2017), and is a crucial player in CDDP-chemoresistance in OvCa cells. In this line, it is known that drugs that trigger lysosomal damage can promote EVs secretion with autophagy markers (Sagini et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2022). Thus, amphisomes are likely to play an unexpected role in chemoresistance to CDDP, promoting the secretion of exosomes in response to this drug (Kan et al., 2020; Peng et al., 2021), probably alleviating the cytotoxicity generated by lysosomal dysfunction and autophagy flux-impairment.

Autophagosomes are known to mediate secretion of toxic cellular constituents (Button et al., 2017), mediating pathogenic roles beyond neurodegenerative diseases, including cancer. Interestingly, BECLIN-1 silencing expression that shuts-down biogenesis of autophagosomes in A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells increases sensibility to CDDP (Bao et al., 2015). In addition to our findings, these antecedents, together with a recent publication (Peng et al., 2021), allow to postulate amphisomes as a key platform for chemoresistance to CDDP in OvCa cells, and as key regulators in the capacity of cells to secrete exosomes, especially when lysosomal function is impaired. The RAB11A has been suggested to play a role in amphisome secretion (Y. Da Chen et al., 2017; Ganesan & Cai, 2021; Szatmári & Sass, 2014), however we did not observe any changes in the levels of this RAB between A2780 CDDP-sensitive and A2780cis CDDP-Resistant cells (Fig. 2A, B). Another protein to be investigated in CDDP-resistant OvCa is RAB8 (Y. Da Chen et al., 2017; Ganesan & Cai, 2021), due to

its recent involvement in CDDP-chemoresistance (D.-W. Shen & Gottesman, 2012).

In this regard, it is important to investigate the role of amphisomes by affecting the biogenesis of autophagosomes through specific strategies. Our findings with the FIP200 silencing go in that direction adding an important piece to the puzzle related with the importance of the ratio of the two GTPases, RAB27A/RAB7. How do amphisomes control the ratio of RAB27A/RAB7 in order to promote secretion? We propose that CDDP must activate PTMs in these GTPases to trigger efficient adaptive processes with impact in the trafficking and fusion of MVBs with the PM. Taken together, efficient blockage of autophagosomes biogenesis by CRISPR or FIP200 silencing together with specific autophagy inhibitors should be investigated in OvCa chemotherapy approaches. Using these strategies would be critical to investigate the status of the lysosomal activity. Finally, as stable RAB27A silencing promotes lysosome biogenesis and chemosensitivity to CDDP, it is possible that CDDP cytotoxicity is directly related to the status of lysosomal organelles.

## 7 CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

The results presented in this thesis can be summarized as follows:

- A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells have an increased machinery for MVBs/ILVs biogenesis and exosome secretion.
- ii. A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells show a reduction in lysosomes as well as in the RAB7 levels.
- iii. A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells have an increased number of amphisome-like structures.
- iv. RAB27A silencing expression reverts the phenotype of A2780cis CDDPresistant OvCa cells promoting chemosensitivity to CDDP.
- v. Reduction in autophagosomes and amphisomes by FIP200 silencing impact the ratio RAB27A/RAB7

In perspective from the results presented in this thesis we propose:

- The development of two new strategies against CDDP-chemoresistance based on RAB27A or FIP200 silencing.
- To study whether RAB27A or FIP200 silencing could promote lysosomal biogenesis in other cellular models.
- To study amphisomes function inhibition as a target for the treatment of CDDP-chemoresistance in OvCa.

Α



С



## В



D



**Figure 12:** Schematic representation of our main findings. **(A) (B)** In contrast to A2780 OvCa CDDP-sensitive cells, A2780cis CDDP-resistant cells have an increased machinery for MVBs/ILVs biogenesis and exosome secretion, a diminished lysosomal function, and a reduction in RAB7 levels. Additionally, CDDP-resistant cells show an increase in the number of amphisome-like structures. **(C)** Silencing of RAB27A-dependent exosome secretion in A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells reverts the phenotype like A2780 CDDP-sensitive OvCa cells promoting chemosensitivity to CDDP **(D)** Silencing of FIP200-dependent autophagosome/amphisome function in A2780cis CDDP-resistant OvCa cells increased the RAB27A/RAB7 ratio reverting to a phenotype like A2780 CDDP-sensitive OvCa cells.

## 8 **REFERENCES**

- Adams, S. D., Csere, J., D'angelo, G., Carter, E. P., Romao, M., Arnandis, T., Dodel, M., Kocher, H. M., Grose, R., Raposo, G., Mardakheh, F., & Godinho, S. A. (2021). Centrosome amplification mediates small extracellular vesicle secretion via lysosome disruption. *Current Biology*, *31*(7), 1403-1416.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.01.028
- Ai, Z., Lu, Y., Qiu, S., & Fan, Z. (2016). Overcoming cisplatin resistance of ovarian cancer cells by targeting HIF-1-regulated cancer metabolism. *Cancer Letters*, 373(1), 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2016.01.009
- Al-Bahlani, S., Fraser, M., Wong, A. Y. C., Sayan, B. S., Bergeron, R., Melino, G., & Tsang, B. K. (2011). P73 regulates cisplatin-induced apoptosis in ovarian cancer cells via a calcium/calpain-dependent mechanism. *Oncogene*, *30*(41), 4219–4230. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.134
- Alderden, R. A., Hall, M. D., & Hambley, T. W. (2006). The Discovery and Development of Cisplatin. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 83(5), 728. https://doi.org/10.1021/ed083p728
- Andreu, Z., & Yáñez-Mó, M. (2014). Tetraspanins in extracellular vesicle formation and function. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5(SEP), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00442
- Bae, D., Moore, K. A., Mella, J. M., Hayashi, S. Y., & Hollien, J. (2019). Degradation of Blos1 mRNA by IRE1 repositions lysosomes and protects cells from stress. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 218(4), 1118–1127. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201809027
- Baietti, M. F., Zhang, Z., Mortier, E., Melchior, A., Degeest, G., Geeraerts, A., Ivarsson, Y., Depoortere, F., Coomans, C., Vermeiren, E., Zimmermann, P., & David, G. (2012). Syndecan-syntenin-ALIX regulates the biogenesis of exosomes. *Nature Cell Biology*, 14(7), 677–685. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2502

- Bandari, S. K., Purushothaman, A., Ramani, V. C., Brinkley, G. J., Chandrashekar, D. S., Varambally, S., Mobley, J. A., Zhang, Y., Brown, E.
  E., Vlodavsky, I., & Sanderson, R. D. (2018). Chemotherapy induces secretion of exosomes loaded with heparanase that degrades extracellular matrix and impacts tumor and host cell behavior. *Matrix Biology*, 65(2018), 104–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2017.09.001
- Bandari, S. K., Tripathi, K., Rangarajan, S., & Sanderson, R. D. (2020). Therapyinduced chemoexosomes: Sinister small extracellular vesicles that support tumor survival and progression. *Cancer Letters*, 493(April), 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2020.08.022
- Bao, L., Jaramillo, M. C., Zhang, Z., Zheng, Y., Yao, M., Zhang, D. D., & Yi, X. (2015). Induction of autophagy contributes to cisplatin resistance in human ovarian cancer cells. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, *11*(1), 91–98. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2014.2671
- Berek, J. S., Renz, M., Kehoe, S., Kumar, L., & Friedlander, M. (2021). Cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum: 2021 update. *International Journal of Gynecology* & *Obstetrics*, 155(S1), 61–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.13878
- Berg, T. O., Fengsrud, M., Strømhaug, P. E., Berg, T., & Seglen, P. O. (1998).
  Isolation and Characterization of Rat Liver Amphisomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 273(34), 21883.
- Bhat, P., Kriel, J., Shubha Priya, B., Basappa, Shivananju, N. S., & Loos, B. (2018). Modulating autophagy in cancer therapy: Advancements and challenges for cancer cell death sensitization. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 147, 170–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2017.11.021
- Binju, M., Padilla, M. A., Singomat, T., Kaur, P., Suryo Rahmanto, Y., Cohen, P. A., & Yu, Y. (2019). Mechanisms underlying acquired platinum resistance in high grade serous ovarian cancer a mini review. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta General Subjects*, 1863(2), 371–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2018.11.005

- Blanc, L., & Vidal, M. (2018). New insights into the function of Rab GTPases in the context of exosomal secretion. In *Small GTPases* (Vol. 9, Issues 1–2, pp. 95–106). Taylor & Francis. https://doi.org/10.1080/21541248.2016.1264352
- Bobrie, A., Krumeich, S., Reyal, F., Recchi, C., Moita, L. F., Seabra, M. C., Ostrowski, M., & Théry, C. (2012). Rab27a Supports Exosome-Dependent and -Independent Mechanisms That Modify the Tumor Microenvironment and Can Promote Tumor Progression. *Cancer Research*, 72(19), 4920– 4930. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0925
- Bolte, S., & Cordelières, F. P. (2006). A guided tour into subcellular colocalization analysis in light microscopy. *Journal of Microscopy*, *224*(3), 213–232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2818.2006.01706.x
- Boura, E., Różycki, B., Chung, H. S., Herrick, D. Z., Canagarajah, B., Cafiso, D. S., Eaton, W. A., Hummer, G., & Hurley, J. H. (2012). Solution Structure of the ESCRT-I and -II Supercomplex: Implications for Membrane Budding and Scission. *Structure*, 20(5), 874–886. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2012.03.008
- Bray, F., Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Siegel, R. L., Torre, L. A., & Jemal, A. (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 68(6), 394–424. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21492
- Bucci, C., Thomsen, P., Nicoziani, P., McCarthy, J., & Van Deurs, B. (2000).
  Rab7: A key to lysosome biogenesis. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, *11*(2), 467–480. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.11.2.467
- Button, R. W., Roberts, S. L., Willis, T. L., Hanemann, C. O., & Luo, S. (2017). Accumulation of autophagosomes confers cytotoxicity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 292(33), 13599–13614. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.782276
- Cao, D., Shan, D., Yan, W., Zhang, Z., Song, Q., Jiang, Y., Zhang, X., Zhang, Z., Wang, Z., Wang, Y., & Lu, S. (2021). Chaperone-mediated autophagy affects tumor cell proliferation and cisplatin resistance in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Thoracic Cancer, January*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/1759-7714.13849

- Cavieres, V. A., Cerda-Troncoso, C., Rivera-Dictter, A., Castro, R. I., Luchsinger,
  C., Santibañez, N., Burgos, P. V., & Mardones, G. A. (2020). Human Golgi
  phosphoprotein 3 is an effector of RAB1A and RAB1B. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(8),
  e0237514. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237514
- Cerda-Troncoso, C., Varas-Godoy, M., & Burgos, P. V. (2021). Pro-Tumoral Functions of Autophagy Receptors in the Modulation of Cancer Progression. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *10*(February), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.619727
- Chan, D. W., Lam, W. Y., Chen, F., Yung, M. M. H., Chan, Y. S., Chan, W. S., He, F., Liu, S. S., Chan, K. K. L., Li, B., & Ngan, H. Y. S. (2021). Genomewide DNA methylome analysis identifies methylation signatures associated with survival and drug resistance of ovarian cancers. *Clinical Epigenetics*, *13*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-021-01130-5
- Chapman-Rothe, N., Curry, E., Zeller, C., Liber, D., Stronach, E., Gabra, H., Ghaem-Maghami, S., & Brown, R. (2013). Chromatin H3K27me3/H3K4me3 histone marks define gene sets in high-grade serous ovarian cancer that distinguish malignant, tumour-sustaining and chemo-resistant ovarian tumour cells. *Oncogene*, 32(38), 4586–4592. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2012.477
- Chen, Y. Da, Fang, Y. T., Cheng, Y. L., Lin, C. F., Hsu, L. J., Wang, S. Y., Anderson, R., Chang, C. P., & Lin, Y. S. (2017). Exophagy of annexin A2 via RAB11, RAB8A and RAB27A in IFN-γ-stimulated lung epithelial cells. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06076-4
- Chen, S. H., & Chang, J. Y. (2019). New insights into mechanisms of cisplatin resistance: From tumor cell to microenvironment. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(17). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20174136
- Chen, X., Li, Z., Yang, C., Tang, J., Lan, H., & Liu, H. (2021). Lysosome Depletion-Triggered Autophagy Impairment in Progressive Kidney Injury. *Kidney Diseases*, 7(4), 254–267. https://doi.org/10.1159/000515035

- Christ, L., Raiborg, C., Wenzel, E. M., Campsteijn, C., & Stenmark, H. (2017). Cellular Functions and Molecular Mechanisms of the ESCRT Membrane-Scission Machinery. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 42(1), 42–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2016.08.016
- Conti, C. J. (2010). Mechanisms of Tumor Progression. In *Comprehensive Toxicology* (Vol. 14, pp. 335–347). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-046884-6.01417-2
- Cossart, P., & Helenius, A. (2014). Endocytosis of viruses and bacteria. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 6(8). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a016972
- Cuello F, M. (2013). GES en cáncer de ovario epitelial: un avance sanitario necesario pero no exento de riesgos y dificultades futuras. *Rev. Chil. Obstet. Ginecol*, 78(3), 161–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2007.01.021
- Cuervo, A. M., & Dice, J. F. (2000). Unique properties of lamp2a compared to other lamp2 isoforms. *Journal of Cell Science*, *113*(24), 4441–4450. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.113.24.4441
- Dasari, S., & Bernard Tchounwou, P. (2014). Cisplatin in cancer therapy: Molecular mechanisms of action. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 740, 364–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.07.025
- Davis, A., Tinker, A. V., & Friedlander, M. (2014). "platinum resistant" ovarian cancer: What is it, who to treat and how to measure benefit? *Gynecologic Oncology*, *133*(3), 624–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2014.02.038
- Diori Karidio, I., & Sanlier, S. H. (2021). Reviewing cancer's biology: an eclectic approach. In *Journal of the Egyptian National Cancer Institute* (Vol. 33, Issue 1, p. 32). Journal of the Egyptian National Cancer Institute. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43046-021-00088-y
- Dorayappan, K. D. P., Wanner, R., Wallbillich, J. J., Saini, U., Zingarelli, R., Suarez, A. A., Cohn, D. E., & Selvendiran, K. (2018). Hypoxia-induced exosomes contribute to a more aggressive and chemoresistant ovarian cancer phenotype: A novel mechanism linking STAT3/Rab proteins. *Oncogene*, 37(28), 3806–3821. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-018-0189-0

- Doyle, L., & Wang, M. (2019). Overview of Extracellular Vesicles, Their Origin, Composition, Purpose, and Methods for Exosome Isolation and Analysis. *Cells*, 8(7), 727. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8070727
- Du, P., Wang, Y., Chen, L., Gan, Y., & Wu, Q. (2016). High ERCC1 expression is associated with platinum-resistance, but not survival in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. *Oncology Letters*, *12*(2), 857–862. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2016.4732
- Eitan, E., Suire, C., Zhang, S., & Mattson, M. P. (2016). Impact of lysosome status on extracellular vesicle content and release. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 32, 65–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2016.05.001
- Elkin, S. R., Lakoduk, A. M., & Schmid, S. L. (2016). Endocytic pathways and endosomal trafficking: a primer. *Wiener Medizinische Wochenschrift*, 166(7– 8), 196–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10354-016-0432-7
- Fares, J., Fares, M. Y., Khachfe, H. H., Salhab, H. A., & Fares, Y. (2020).
  Molecular principles of metastasis: a hallmark of cancer revisited. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 5(1), 28. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0134-x
- Feng, F., Jiang, Y., Lu, H., Lu, X., Wang, S., Wang, L., Wei, M., Lu, W., Du, Z., Ye, Z., Yang, G., Yuan, F., Ma, Y., Lei, X., & Lu, Z. (2016). Rab27A mediated by NF-κB promotes the stemness of colon cancer cells via up-regulation of cytokine secretion. *Oncotarget*, 7(39), 63342–63351. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.11454
- Fodale, V., Pierobon, M., Liotta, L., & Petricoin, E. (2011). Mechanism of Cell
  Adaptation. *The Cancer Journal*, *17*(2), 89–95.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/PPO.0b013e318212dd3d
- Fraser, M., Bai, T., & Tsang, B. K. (2008). Akt promotes cisplatin resistance in human ovarian cancer cells through inhibition of p53 phosphorylation and nuclear function. *International Journal of Cancer*, 122(3), 534–546. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.23086

- Friand, V., David, G., & Zimmermann, P. (2015). Syntenin and syndecan in the biogenesis of exosomes. *Biology of the Cell*, 107(10), 331–341. https://doi.org/10.1111/boc.201500010
- Fukuda, M. (2008). Membrane traffic in the secretory pathway. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 65(18), 2801–2813. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-008-8351-4
- Fukuda, Mitsunori. (2013). Rab27 Effectors, Pleiotropic Regulators in Secretory Pathways. *Traffic*, *14*(9), 949–963. https://doi.org/10.1111/tra.12083
- Galluzzi, L., Senovilla, L., Vitale, I., Michels, J., Martins, I., Kepp, O., Castedo, M.,
  & Kroemer, G. (2012). Molecular mechanisms of cisplatin resistance. In *Oncogene* (Vol. 31, Issue 15, pp. 1869–1883). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.384
- Galluzzi, L., Vitale, I., Michels, J., Brenner, C., Szabadkai, G., Harel-Bellan, A., Castedo, M., & Kroemer, G. (2014). Systems biology of cisplatin resistance:
  Past, present and future. *Cell Death and Disease*, *5*(5), e1257-18. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2013.428
- Gan, B., Melkoumian, Z. K., Wu, X., Guan, K.-L., & Guan, J.-L. (2005). Identification of FIP200 interaction with the TSC1-TSC2 complex and its role in regulation of cell size control. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *170*(3), 379– 389. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200411106
- Ganesan, D., & Cai, Q. (2021). Understanding amphisomes. *Biochemical Journal*, 478(10), 1959–1976. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20200917
- Geisslinger, F., Müller, M., Vollmar, A. M., & Bartel, K. (2020). Targeting Lysosomes in Cancer as Promising Strategy to Overcome Chemoresistance—A Mini Review. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *10*(July), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.01156
- Gerber, P. P., Cabrini, M., Jancic, C., Paoletti, L., Banchio, C., Bilderling, C. von, Sigaut, L., Pietrasanta, L. I., Duette, G., Freed, E. O., Basile, G. de Saint, Moita, C. F., Moita, L. F., Amigorena, S., Benaroch, P., Geffner, J., & Ostrowski, M. (2015). Rab27a controls HIV-1 assembly by regulating plasma membrane levels of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate. *Journal of Cell*

Biology, 209(3), 435–452. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201409082

- Goñi, F. M., & Alonso, A. (2009). Effects of ceramide and other simple sphingolipids on membrane lateral structure. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Biomembranes*, 1788(1), 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.09.002
- Green, D. R., & Ferguson, T. A. (2001). The role of fas ligand in immune privilege. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2(12), 917–924. https://doi.org/10.1038/35103104
- Grosshans, B. L., Ortiz, D., & Novick, P. (2006). Rabs and their effectors: Achieving specificity in membrane traffic. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(32), 11821–11827. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0601617103
- Guerra, F., Paiano, A., Migoni, D., Girolimetti, G., Perrone, A. M., De Iaco, P., Fanizzi, F. P., Gasparre, G., & Bucci, C. (2019). Modulation of RAB7A protein expression determines resistance to cisplatin through late endocytic pathway impairment and extracellular vesicular secretion. *Cancers*, *11*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11010052
- Guix, F. X., Capitán, A. M., Casadomé-Perales, Á., Palomares-Pérez, I., del Castillo, I. L., Miguel, V., Goedeke, L., Martín, M. G., Lamas, S., Peinado, H., Fernández-Hernando, C., & Dotti, C. G. (2021). Increased exosome secretion in neurons aging in vitro by NPC1-mediated endosomal cholesterol buildup. *Life Science Alliance*, *4*(8), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.26508/LSA.202101055
- Hanahan, D. (2022). Hallmarks of Cancer: New Dimensions. *Cancer Discovery*, *12*(1), 31–46. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-21-1059
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell*, 144(5), 646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hara, T., Takamura, A., Kishi, C., Iemura, S. I., Natsume, T., Guan, J. L., & Mizushima, N. (2008). FIP200, a ULK-interacting protein, is required for autophagosome formation in mammalian cells. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *181*(3), 497–510. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200712064

- Hasan, S., Taha, R., & Omri, H. El. (2018). Current Opinions on Chemoresistance:
  An Overview. *Bioinformation*, 14(02), 80–85.
  https://doi.org/10.6026/97320630014080
- Hase, K., Fujiwara, Y., Kikuchi, H., Aizawa, S., Hakuno, F., Takahashi, S. I., Wada, K., & Kabuta, T. (2015). RNautophagy/DNautophagy possesses selectivity for RNA/DNA substrates. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *43*(13), 6439– 6449. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv579
- Hayatudin, R., Fong, Z., Ming, L. C., Goh, B. H., Lee, W. L., & Kifli, N. (2021).
  Overcoming Chemoresistance via Extracellular Vesicle Inhibition. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*, 8(March), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2021.629874
- He, P., Qiu, K., & Jia, Y. (2018). Modeling of mesenchymal hybrid epithelial state and phenotypic transitions in EMT and MET processes of cancer cells. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 14323. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-32737-z
- Helm, C. W., & States, J. C. (2009). Enhancing the efficacy of cisplatin in ovarian cancer treatment - Could arsenic have a role. *Journal of Ovarian Research*, 2(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1757-2215-2-2
- Hendrix, A., & De Wever, O. (2013). Rab27 GTPases Distribute Extracellular Nanomaps for Invasive Growth and Metastasis: Implications for Prognosis and Treatment. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 14(5), 9883– 9892. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms14059883
- Hertzman Johansson, C., Azimi, A., Frostvik Stolt, M., Shojaee, S., Wiberg, H., Grafström, E., Hansson, J., & Egyházi Brage, S. (2013). Association of MITF and other melanosome-related proteins with chemoresistance in melanoma tumors and cell lines. *Melanoma Research*, 23(5), 360–365. https://doi.org/10.1097/CMR.0b013e328362f9cd
- Hervé, J.-C., & Derangeon, M. (2013). Gap-junction-mediated cell-to-cell communication. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 352(1), 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-012-1485-6

- Homma, Y., Hiragi, S., & Fukuda, M. (2021). Rab family of small GTPases: an updated view on their regulation and functions. *The FEBS Journal*, 288(1), 36–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15453
- Hu, S. Q., Zhang, Q. C., Meng, Q. B., Hu, A. N., Zou, J. P., & Li, X. L. (2020). Autophagy regulates exosome secretion in rat nucleus pulposus cells via the RhoC/ROCK2 pathway. *Experimental Cell Research*, 395(2), 112239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2020.112239
- Huang, D., Li, G., Bhat, O. M., Zou, Y., Li, N., Ritter, J. K., & Li, P.-L. (2022).
  Exosome Biogenesis and Lysosome Function Determine Podocyte Exosome
  Release and Glomerular Inflammatory Response during
  Hyperhomocysteinemia. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *192*(1), 43–55.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2021.10.005
- Huang, H., Hou, J., Liu, K., Liu, Q., Shen, L., Liu, B., Lu, Q., Zhang, N., Che, L.,
  Li, J., Jiang, S., Wang, B., Wen, Q., Hu, L., & Gao, J. (2021). RAB27Adependent release of exosomes by liver cancer stem cells induces Nanog
  expression in their differentiated progenies and confers regorafenib
  resistance. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *36*(12), 3429–3437.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.15619
- Hudson, C. D., Savadelis, A., Nagaraj, A. B., Joseph, P., Avril, S., DiFeo, A., &
  Avril, N. (2016). Altered glutamine metabolism in platinum resistant ovarian cancer. *Oncotarget*, 7(27), 41637–41649.
  https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.9317
- Hung, M. E., & Leonard, J. N. (2015). Stabilization of Exosome-targeting Peptides via Engineered Glycosylation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(13), 8166–8172. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.621383
- Huotari, J., & Helenius, A. (2011). Endosome maturation. *EMBO Journal*, *30*(17), 3481–3500. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.286
- Hurley, J. H., & Hanson, P. I. (2010). Membrane budding and scission by the ESCRT machinery: It's all in the neck. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *11*(8), 556–566. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2937

- Hutagalung, A. H., & Novick, P. J. (2011). Role of Rab GTPases in membrane traffic and cell physiology. *Physiological Reviews*, 91(1), 119–149. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00059.2009
- Hyttinen, J. M. T., Niittykoski, M., Salminen, A., & Kaarniranta, K. (2013).
  Maturation of autophagosomes and endosomes: A key role for Rab7. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Cell Research*, *1833*(3), 503–510.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2012.11.018
- Jin, H., Tang, Y., Yang, L., Peng, X., Li, B., Fan, Q., Wei, S., Yang, S., Li, X., Wu, B., Huang, M., Tang, S., Liu, J., & Li, H. (2021). Rab GTPases: Central Coordinators of Membrane Trafficking in Cancer. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 9(June), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.648384
- Johansen, T., & Lamark, T. (2020). Selective Autophagy: ATG8 Family Proteins, LIR Motifs and Cargo Receptors. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *432*(1), 80– 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2019.07.016
- Kabeya, Y., Mizushima, N., Yamamoto, A., Oshitani-Okamoto, S., Ohsumi, Y., & Yoshimori, T. (2004). LC3, GABARAP and GATE16 localize to autophagosomal membrane depending on form-II formation. *Journal of Cell Science*, *117*(13), 2805–2812. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.01131
- Kajimoto, T., Okada, T., Miya, S., Zhang, L., & Nakamura, S. I. (2013). Ongoing activation of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors mediates maturation of exosomal multivesicular endosomes. *Nature Communications*, 4(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3712
- Kalayda, G. V., Wagner, C. H., Buß, I., Reedijk, J., & Jaehde, U. (2008). Altered localisation of the copper efflux transporters ATP7A and ATP7B associated with cisplatin resistance in human ovarian carcinoma cells. *BMC Cancer*, 8(1), 175. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-8-175
- Kan, Y., Liu, J., & Li, F. (2020). High expression of nuclear transcription factorкb is associated with cisplatin resistance and prognosis for ovarian cancer. *Cancer Management and Research*, 12, 8241–8252. https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S265531

- Katopodis, P., Chudasama, D., Wander, G., Sales, L., Kumar, J., Pandhal, M.,
  Anikin, V., Chatterjee, J., Hall, M., & Karteris, E. (2019). Kinase inhibitors and
  ovarian cancer. *Cancers*, *11*(9), 1–17.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11091357
- Kawai, A., Uchiyama, H., Takano, S., Nakamura, N., & Ohkuma, S. (2007).
  Autophagosome-Lysosome Fusion Depends on the pH in Acidic Compartments in CHO Cells. *Autophagy*, 3(2), 154–157. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.3634
- Kim, S., Han, Y., Kim, S. I., Kim, H.-S., Kim, S. J., & Song, Y. S. (2018). Tumor evolution and chemoresistance in ovarian cancer. *Npj Precision Oncology*, 2(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41698-018-0063-0
- Kiss, A. L., & Botos, E. (2009). Endocytosis via caveolae: Alternative pathway with distinct cellular compartments to avoid lysosomal degradation? *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 13(7), 1228–1237. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00754.x
- Klionsky, D. J., Abdel-Aziz, A. K., Abdelfatah, S., Abdellatif, M., Abdoli, A., Abel, S., Abeliovich, H., Abildgaard, M. H., Abudu, Y. P., Acevedo-Arozena, A., Adamopoulos, I. E., Adeli, K., Adolph, T. E., Adornetto, A., Aflaki, E., Agam, G., Agarwal, A., Aggarwal, B. B., Agnello, M., ... Tong, C. K. (2021). Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy (4th edition)1. *Autophagy*, *17*(1), 1–382. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1797280
- Klionsky, D. J., Petroni, G., Amaravadi, R. K., Baehrecke, E. H., Ballabio, A., Boya, P., Bravo-San Pedro, J. M., Cadwell, K., Cecconi, F., Choi, A. M. K., Choi, M. E., Chu, C. T., Codogno, P., Colombo, M. I., Cuervo, A. M., Deretic, V., Dikic, I., Elazar, Z., Eskelinen, E., ... Pietrocola, F. (2021). Autophagy in major human diseases. *The EMBO Journal*, 1–63. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2021108863
- Klumperman, J., & Raposo, G. (2014). The Complex Ultrastructure of the Endolysosomal System. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 6(10), a016857–a016857. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a016857

- Koh, H. M., & Song, D. H. (2019). Prognostic role of Rab27A and Rab27B expression in patients with non-small cell lung carcinoma. *Thoracic Cancer*, *10*(2), 143–149. https://doi.org/10.1111/1759-7714.12919
- Kren, N., Michaud, D., Bagchi, S., Greene, K., & Pylayeva-Gupta, Y. (2020).
  Rab27a plays a dual role in metastatic propensity of pancreatic cancer. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 7390. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-64248-1
- Kundu, S. T., Grzeskowiak, C. L., Fradette, J. J., Gibson, L. A., Rodriguez, L. B., Creighton, C. J., Scott, K. L., & Gibbons, D. L. (2018). TMEM106B drives lung cancer metastasis by inducing TFEB-dependent lysosome synthesis and secretion of cathepsins. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 2731. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05013-x
- Kutateladze, T. G. (2006). Phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate recognition and membrane docking by the FYVE domain. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta -Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1761(8), 868–877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2006.03.011
- Langemeyer, L., Fröhlich, F., & Ungermann, C. (2018). Rab GTPase Function in Endosome and Lysosome Biogenesis. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 28(11), 957– 970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2018.06.007
- Li, J., Jin, Q., Huang, F., Tang, Z., & Huang, J. (2017). Effects of Rab27A and Rab27B on Invasion, Proliferation, Apoptosis, and Chemoresistance in Human Pancreatic Cancer Cells. *Pancreas*, 46(9), 1173–1179. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPA.0000000000000010
- Li, W., Mu, D., Tian, F., Hu, Y., Jiang, T., Han, Y., Chen, J., Han, G., & Li, X. (2013). Exosomes derived from Rab27a-overexpressing tumor cells elicit efficient induction of antitumor immunity. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, 8(6), 1876–1882. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2013.1738
- Li, X., Wang, H., Ni, Q., Tang, Z., Ni, J., Xu, L., Huang, H., Ni, S., & Feng, J. (2017). Effects of silencing Rab27a gene on biological characteristics and chemosensitivity of non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncotarget*, *8*(55), 94481– 94492. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.21782

- Li, Z., Zhou, X., Gao, X., Bai, D., Dong, Y., Sun, W., Zhao, L., Wei, M., Yang, X., Yang, G., & Yuan, L. (2020). Fusion protein engineered exosomes for targeted degradation of specific RNAs in lysosomes: a proof-of-concept study. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*, 9(1), 1816710. https://doi.org/10.1080/20013078.2020.1816710
- Liang, G., Zhu, Y., Ali, D. J., Tian, T., Xu, H., Si, K., Sun, B., Chen, B., & Xiao, Z. (2020). Engineered exosomes for targeted co-delivery of miR-21 inhibitor and chemotherapeutics to reverse drug resistance in colon cancer. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology*, *18*(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-019-0563-2
- Liu, J., Gong, X., Zhu, X., Xue, D., Liu, Y., & Wang, P. (2017). Rab27A overexpression promotes bladder cancer proliferation and chemoresistance through regulation of NF-κB signaling. *Oncotarget*, *8*(43), 75272–75283. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.20775
- Lübke, T., Lobel, P., & Sleat, D. E. (2009). Proteomics of the lysosome. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research, 1793(4), 625–635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2008.09.018
- Lv, L.-H., Wan, Y.-L., Lin, Y., Zhang, W., Yang, M., Li, G.-L., Lin, H.-M., Shang, C.-Z., Chen, Y.-J., & Min, J. (2012). Anticancer Drugs Cause Release of Exosomes with Heat Shock Proteins from Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cells That Elicit Effective Natural Killer Cell Antitumor Responses in Vitro. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(19), 15874–15885. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.340588
- Ma, Q., Yang, F., Mackintosh, C., Jayani, R. S., Oh, S., Jin, C., Nair, S. J., Merkurjev, D., Ma, W., Allen, S., Wang, D., Almenar-Queralt, A., & Garcia-Bassets, I. (2020). Super-Enhancer Redistribution as a Mechanism of Broad Gene Dysregulation in Repeatedly Drug-Treated Cancer Cells. *Cell Reports*, 31(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.107532
- Makovec, T. (2019). Cisplatin and beyond: Molecular mechanisms of action and drug resistance development in cancer chemotherapy. *Radiology and Oncology*, 53(2), 148–158. https://doi.org/10.2478/raon-2019-0018

- Mancias, J. D., & Kimmelman, A. C. (2016). Mechanisms of Selective Autophagy in Normal Physiology and Cancer. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 428(9), 1659–1680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2016.02.027
- Mandic, A., Hansson, J., Linder, S., & Shoshan, M. C. (2003). Cisplatin induces endoplasmic reticulum stress and nucleus-independent apoptotic signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(11), 9100–9106. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M210284200
- Marongiu, F., Serra, M., & Laconi, E. (2018). Development versus Evolution in Cancer Biology. *Trends in Cancer*, *4*(5), 342–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2018.03.007
- Mathieu, M., Névo, N., Jouve, M., Valenzuela, J. I., Maurin, M., Verweij, F. J., Palmulli, R., Lankar, D., Dingli, F., Loew, D., Rubinstein, E., Boncompain, G., Perez, F., & Théry, C. (2021). Specificities of exosome versus small ectosome secretion revealed by live intracellular tracking of CD63 and CD9. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-24384-2
- Mayor, S., Parton, R. G., & Donaldson, J. G. (2014). Clathrin-independent pathways of endocytosis. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 6(6). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a016758
- Merrell, A. J., & Stanger, B. Z. (2016). Adult cell plasticity in vivo: De-differentiation and transdifferentiation are back in style. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 17(7), 413–425. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2016.24
- Messenger, S. W., Woo, S. S., Sun, Z., & Martin, T. F. J. (2018). A Ca2+stimulated exosome release pathway in cancer cells is regulated by Munc134. Journal of Cell Biology, 217(8), 2877–2890. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201710132
- Miranda, A. M., Lasiecka, Z. M., Xu, Y., Neufeld, J., Shahriar, S., Simoes, S., Chan, R. B., Oliveira, T. G., Small, S. A., & Di Paolo, G. (2018). Neuronal lysosomal dysfunction releases exosomes harboring APP C-terminal fragments and unique lipid signatures. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02533-w

- Mollaei, M., Hassan, Z. M., Khorshidi, F., & Langroudi, L. (2021). Chemotherapeutic drugs: Cell death- and resistance-related signaling pathways. Are they really as smart as the tumor cells? *Translational Oncology*, *14*(5), 101056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2021.101056
- Moloudizargari, M., Asghari, M. H., & Abdollahi, M. (2018). Modifying exosome release in cancer therapy: How can it help? *Pharmacological Research*, 134(July), 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2018.07.001
- Momenimovahed, Z., Tiznobaik, A., Taheri, S., & Salehiniya, H. (2019). Ovarian cancer in the world: Epidemiology and risk factors. *International Journal of Women's Health*, *11*, 287–299. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S197604
- Mosquera-Heredia, M. I., Morales, L. C., Vidal, O. M., Barceló, E., Silvera-Redondo, C., Vélez, J. I., & Garavito-Galofre, P. (2021). Exosomes: Potential Disease Biomarkers and New Therapeutic Targets. *Biomedicines*, 9(8), 1061. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines9081061
- Nakamura, K., Sawada, K., Kobayashi, M., Miyamoto, M., Shimizu, A., Yamamoto, M., Kinose, Y., & Kimura, T. (2019). Role of the Exosome in Ovarian Cancer Progression and Its Potential as a Therapeutic Target. *Cancers*, *11*(8), 1147. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11081147
- Nam, H. J. (2021). Autophagy Modulators in Cancer: Focus on Cancer Treatment. *Life*, *11*(8), 839. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11080839
- Nguyen, D. X., Bos, P. D., & Massagué, J. (2009). Metastasis: from dissemination to organ-specific colonization. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 9(4), 274–284. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2622
- Nishimura, T., Tamura, N., Kono, N., Shimanaka, Y., Arai, H., Yamamoto, H., & Mizushima, N. (2017). Autophagosome formation is initiated at phosphatidylinositol synthase-enriched ER subdomains. *The EMBO Journal*, *36*(12), 1719–1735. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201695189
- Norouzi-Barough, L., Sarookhani, M. R., Sharifi, M., Moghbelinejad, S., Jangjoo, S., & Salehi, R. (2018). Molecular mechanisms of drug resistance in ovarian cancer. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 233(6), 4546–4562. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26289

- Oberle, C., Huai, J., Reinheckel, T., Tacke, M., Rassner, M., Ekert, P. G., Buellesbach, J., & Borner, C. (2010). Lysosomal membrane permeabilization and cathepsin release is a Bax/Bak-dependent, amplifying event of apoptosis in fibroblasts and monocytes. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, *17*(7), 1167–1178. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2009.214
- Oliveira, P. A., Colaço, A., Chaves, R., Guedes-Pinto, H., De-La-Cruz, L. F. P., & Lopes, C. (2007). Chemical carcinogenesis. *Anais Da Academia Brasileira de Ciencias*, 79(4), 593–916. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0001-37652007000400004
- Ortega, F. G., Roefs, M. T., de Miguel Perez, D., Kooijmans, S. A., de Jong, O. G., Sluijter, J. P., Schiffelers, R. M., & Vader, P. (2019). Interfering with endolysosomal trafficking enhances release of bioactive exosomes. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine*, 20, 102014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2019.102014
- Ostrowski, M., Carmo, N. B., Krumeich, S., Fanget, I., Raposo, G., Savina, A., Moita, C. F., Schauer, K., Hume, A. N., Freitas, R. P., Goud, B., Benaroch, P., Hacohen, N., Fukuda, M., Desnos, C., Seabra, M. C., Darchen, F., Amigorena, S., Moita, L. F., & Thery, C. (2010). Rab27a and Rab27b control different steps of the exosome secretion pathway. *Nature Cell Biology*, *12*(1), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2000
- Palmieri, M., Impey, S., Kang, H., di Ronza, A., Pelz, C., Sardiello, M., & Ballabio,
  A. (2011). Characterization of the CLEAR network reveals an integrated control of cellular clearance pathways. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *20*(19), 3852–3866. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddr306
- Patch, A. M., Christie, E. L., Etemadmoghadam, D., Garsed, D. W., George, J., Fereday, S., Nones, K., Cowin, P., Alsop, K., Bailey, P. J., Kassahn, K. S., Newell, F., Quinn, M. C. J., Kazakoff, S., Quek, K., Wilhelm-Benartzi, C., Curry, E., Leong, H. S., Hamilton, A., ... Bowtell, D. D. L. (2015). Wholegenome characterization of chemoresistant ovarian cancer. *Nature*, 521(7553), 489–494. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14410

- Peng, X., Yang, L., Ma, Y., Li, X., Yang, S., Li, Y., Wu, B., Tang, S., Zhang, F., Zhang, B., Liu, J., & Li, H. (2021). IKKβ activation promotes amphisome formation and extracellular vesicle secretion in tumor cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Cell Research*, 1868(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2020.118857
- Petruzzelli, R., Mariniello, M., De Cegli, R., Catalano, F., Guida, F., Di Schiavi, E.,
  & Polishchuk, R. S. (2022). TFEB Regulates ATP7B Expression to Promote Platinum Chemoresistance in Human Ovarian Cancer Cells. *Cells*, *11*(2), 1– 14. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11020219
- Pi, H., Li, M., Tian, L., Yang, Z., Yu, Z., & Zhou, Z. (2017). Enhancing lysosomal biogenesis and autophagic flux by activating the transcription factor EB protects against cadmium-induced neurotoxicity. *Scientific Reports*, 7(August 2016), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep43466
- Pitot, H. C. (1993). The molecular biology of carcinogenesis. *Cancer*, 72(3 S), 962–970. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(19930801)72:3+<962::AID-CNCR2820721303>3.0.CO;2-H
- Poillet-Perez, L., Sarry, J.-E., & Joffre, C. (2021). Autophagy is a major metabolic regulator involved in cancer therapy resistance. *Cell Reports*, 36(7), 109528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109528
- Qin, S., Jiang, J., Lu, Y., Nice, E. C., Huang, C., Zhang, J., & He, W. (2020). Emerging role of tumor cell plasticity in modifying therapeutic response. In *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy* (Vol. 5, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00313-5
- Raiborg, C., Bache, K. G., Gillooly, D. J., Madshus, I. H., Stang, E., & Stenmark,
  H. (2002). Hrs sorts ubiquitinated proteins into clathrin-coated microdomains
  of early endosomes. *Nature Cell Biology*, *4*(5), 394–398.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb791
- Raiborg, C., Schink, K. O., & Stenmark, H. (2013). Class III phosphatidylinositol
  3-kinase and its catalytic product PtdIns3P in regulation of endocytic
  membrane traffic. *FEBS Journal*, 280(12), 2730–2742.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.12116

- Reid, B. M., Permuth, J. B., & Sellers, T. A. (2017). Epidemiology of ovarian cancer: a review. *Cancer Biology and Medicine*, 14(1), 9–32. https://doi.org/10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2016.0084
- Rink, J., Ghigo, E., Kalaidzidis, Y., & Zerial, M. (2005). Rab conversion as a mechanism of progression from early to late endosomes. *Cell*, 122(5), 735– 749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.06.043
- Roett, M. A., & Evans, P. (2009). Ovarian cancer: an overview. *American Family Physician*, *80*(6), 609–616. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32606233
- Rouillard, A. D., Gundersen, G. W., Fernandez, N. F., Wang, Z., Monteiro, C. D., McDermott, M. G., & Ma'ayan, A. (2016). The harmonizome: a collection of processed datasets gathered to serve and mine knowledge about genes and proteins. *Database*, 2016, baw100. https://doi.org/10.1093/database/baw100
- Safaei, R., Larson, B. J., Cheng, T. C., Gibson, M. A., Otani, S., Naerdemann, W.,
  & Howell, S. B. (2005). Abnormal lysosomal trafficking and enhanced exosomal export of cisplatin in drug-resistant human ovarian carcinoma cells. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 4(10), 1595–1604. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0102
- Saftig, P., & Klumperman, J. (2009). Lysosome biogenesis and lysosomal membrane proteins: Trafficking meets function. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 10, Issue 9, pp. 623–635). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2745
- Sagini, K., Buratta, S., Delo, F., Pellegrino, R. M., Giovagnoli, S., Urbanelli, L., & Emiliani, C. (2021). Drug-induced lysosomal impairment is associated with the release of extracellular vesicles carrying autophagy markers. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(23). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222312922
- Salimi, L., Akbari, A., Jabbari, N., Mojarad, B., Vahhabi, A., Szafert, S., Kalashani, S. A., Soraya, H., Nawaz, M., & Rezaie, J. (2020). Synergies in exosomes and autophagy pathways for cellular homeostasis and metastasis of tumor cells. *Cell & Bioscience*, *10*(1), 64. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13578-020-00426-y

- Salimu, J., Webber, J., Gurney, M., Al-Taei, S., Clayton, A., & Tabi, Z. (2017). Dominant immunosuppression of dendritic cell function by prostate-cancerderived exosomes. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*, 6(1), 1368823. https://doi.org/10.1080/20013078.2017.1368823
- Samuel, P., Mulcahy, L. A., Furlong, F., McCarthy, H. O., Brooks, S. A., Fabbri, M., Pink, R. C., & Francisco Carter, D. R. (2018). Cisplatin induces the release of extracellular vesicles from ovarian cancer cells that can induce invasiveness and drug resistance in bystander cells. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 373(1737). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2017.0065
- Sano, R., & Reed, J. C. (2013). ER stress-induced cell death mechanisms. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research, 1833(12), 3460– 3470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.06.028
- Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch, S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., Tinevez, J. Y., White, D. J., Hartenstein, V., Eliceiri, K., Tomancak, P., & Cardona, A. (2012). Fiji: An open-source platform for biological-image analysis. In *Nature Methods* (Vol. 9, Issue 7, pp. 676–682). https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019
- Schneiderman, D., Kim, J. M., Senterman, M., & Tsang, B. K. (1999). Sustained suppression of fas ligand expression in cisplatin-resistant human ovarian surface epithelial cancer cells. *Apoptosis*, 4(4), 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026456926754
- Shen, D.-W., & Gottesman, M. M. (2012). RAB8 Enhances TMEM205-Mediated Cisplatin Resistance. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 29(3), 643–650. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-011-0562-y
- Shen, D. W., Pouliot, L. M., Hall, M. D., & Gottesman, M. M. (2012). Cisplatin resistance: A cellular self-defense mechanism resulting from multiple epigenetic and genetic changes. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 64(3), 706–721. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.111.005637

- Shinde, S. R., & Maddika, S. (2018). Post translational modifications of Rab GTPases. *Small GTPases*, 9(1–2), 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/21541248.2017.1299270
- Song, L., Tang, S., Han, X., Jiang, Z., Dong, L., Liu, C., Liang, X., Dong, J., Qiu,
  C., Wang, Y., & Du, Y. (2019). KIBRA controls exosome secretion via inhibiting the proteasomal degradation of Rab27a. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 1639. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09720-x
- Steinbichler, T. B., Dudás, J., Skvortsov, S., Ganswindt, U., Riechelmann, H., &
   Skvortsova, I. I. (2019). Therapy resistance mediated by exosomes.
   *Molecular Cancer*, *18*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-019-0970-x
- Stenmark, H. (2009). Rab GTPases as coordinators of vesicle traffic. Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology, 10(8), 513–525. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2728
- Stordal, B., Hamon, M., McEneaney, V., Roche, S., Gillet, J. P., O'Leary, J. J., Gottesman, M., & Clynes, M. (2012). Resistance to paclitaxel in a cisplatinresistant ovarian cancer cell line is mediated by P-glycoprotein. *PLoS ONE*, 7(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0040717
- Strathdee, G., MacKean, M. J., Illand, M., & Brown, R. (1999). A role for methylation of the hMLH1 promoter in loss of hMLH1 expression and drug resistance in ovarian cancer. *Oncogene*, *18*(14), 2335–2341. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1202540
- Strauss, K., Goebel, C., Runz, H., Möbius, W., Weiss, S., Feussner, I., Simons, M., & Schneider, A. (2010). Exosome secretion ameliorates lysosomal storage of cholesterol in Niemann-Pick type C disease. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(34), 26279–26288. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.134775
- Stroupe, C. (2018). This is the end: Regulation of Rab7 nucleotide binding in endolysosomal trafficking and autophagy. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 6(OCT), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2018.00129

- Szatmári, Z., & Sass, M. (2014). The autophagic roles of Rab small GTPases and their upstream regulators. *Autophagy*, *10*(7), 1154–1166. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.29395
- Takino, T., Miyamori, H., Kawaguchi, N., Uekita, T., Seiki, M., & Sato, H. (2003). Tetraspanin CD63 promotes targeting and lysosomal proteolysis of membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 304(1), 160–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00544-8
- Tanida, I., Ueno, T., & Kominami, E. (2004). LC3 conjugation system in mammalian autophagy. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 36(12), 2503–2518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2004.05.009
- Tchounwou, P. B., Dasari, S., Noubissi, F. K., Ray, P., & Kumar, S. (2021). Advances in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms of action of cisplatin in cancer therapy. *Journal of Experimental Pharmacology*, *13*, 303– 328. https://doi.org/10.2147/JEP.S267383
- Tekirdag, K., & Cuervo, A. M. (2018). Chaperone-mediated autophagy and endosomal microautophagy: Joint by a chaperone. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293(15), 5414–5424. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R117.818237
- Tong, X., Zhao, J., Zhang, Y., Mu, P., & Wang, X. (2019). Expression levels of MRP1, GST-π, and GSK3B in ovarian cancer and the relationship with drug resistance and prognosis of patients. *Oncology Letters*, *18*(1), 22–28. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2019.10315
- Toss, A., Tomasello, C., Razzaboni, E., Contu, G., Grandi, G., Cagnacci, A., Schilder, R. J., & Cortesi, L. (2015). Hereditary ovarian cancer: Not only BRCA 1 and 2 Genes. *BioMed Research International*, 2015(Figure 1). https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/341723
- Trivedi, P. C., Bartlett, J. J., & Pulinilkunnil, T. (2020). Lysosomal Biology and Function: Modern View of Cellular Debris Bin. *Cells*, 9(5), 1–35. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9051131

- van de Vlekkert, D., Demmers, J., Nguyen, X. X., Campos, Y., Machado, E., Annunziata, I., Hu, H., Gomero, E., Qiu, X., Bongiovanni, A., Feghali-Bostwick, C. A., & D'Azzo, A. (2019). Excessive exosome release is the pathogenic pathway linking a lysosomal deficiency to generalized fibrosis. *Science Advances*, *5*(7). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aav3270
- Van Niel, G., D'Angelo, G., & Raposo, G. (2018). Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *19*(4), 213–228. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.125
- Vanlandingham, P. A., & Ceresa, B. P. (2009a). Rab7 regulates late endocytic trafficking downstream of multivesicular body biogenesis and cargo sequestration. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(18), 12110–12124. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M809277200
- Vanlandingham, P. A., & Ceresa, B. P. (2009b). Rab7 regulates late endocytic trafficking downstream of multivesicular body biogenesis and cargo sequestration. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(18), 12110–12124. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M809277200
- Verderio, C., Gabrielli, M., & Giussani, P. (2018). Role of sphingolipids in the biogenesis and biological activity of extracellular vesicles. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 59(8), 1325–1340. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R083915
- Vietri, M., Radulovic, M., & Stenmark, H. (2020). The many functions of ESCRTs. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *21*(1), 25–42. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0177-4
- Villarroya-Beltri, C., Baixauli, F., Mittelbrunn, M., Fernández-Delgado, I., Torralba, D., Moreno-Gonzalo, O., Baldanta, S., Enrich, C., Guerra, S., & Sánchez-Madrid, F. (2016). ISGylation controls exosome secretion by promoting lysosomal degradation of MVB proteins. *Nature Communications*, 7, 13588. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13588
- Wallace, D. C. (2012). Mitochondria and cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *12*(10), 685–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3365

- Wang, J.-S., Wang, F.-B., Zhang, Q.-G., Shen, Z.-Z., & Shao, Z.-M. (2008). Enhanced Expression of Rab27A Gene by Breast Cancer Cells Promoting Invasiveness and the Metastasis Potential by Secretion of Insulin-Like Growth Factor-II. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 6(3), 372–382. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-07-0162
- Wang, J., Yu, Y., Lu, K., Yang, M., Li, Y., Zhou, X., & Sun, Z. (2017). Silica nanoparticles induce autophagy dysfunction via lysosomal impairment and inhibition of autophagosome degradation in hepatocytes. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, *12*, 809–825. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S123596
- Wang, Q., Ni, Q., Wang, X., Zhu, H., Wang, Z., & Huang, J. (2015). High expression of RAB27A and TP53 in pancreatic cancer predicts poor survival. *Medical Oncology*, 32(1), 372. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12032-014-0372-2
- Wang, T., Gilkes, D. M., Takano, N., Xiang, L., Luo, W., Bishop, C. J., Chaturvedi,
  P., Green, J. J., & Semenza, G. L. (2014). Hypoxia-inducible factors and
  RAB22A mediate formation of microvesicles that stimulate breast cancer
  invasion and metastasis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*of the United States of America, 111(31), E3234–E3242.
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1410041111
- Wei, D., Zhan, W., Gao, Y., Huang, L., Gong, R., Wang, W., Zhang, R., Wu, Y., Gao, S., & Kang, T. (2021). RAB31 marks and controls an ESCRTindependent exosome pathway. *Cell Research*, 31(2), 157–177. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-00409-1
- Whitmarsh-Everiss, T., & Laraia, L. (2021). Small molecule probes for targeting autophagy. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 17(6), 653–664. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-021-00768-9
- Wollert, T., & Hurley, J. H. (2010). Molecular mechanism of multivesicular body biogenesis by ESCRT complexes. *Nature*, 464(7290), 864–869. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08849

- Wu, W., Fan, L., Bao, Z., Zhang, Y., Peng, Y., Shao, M., Xiang, Y., Zhang, X.,
  Wang, Q., & Tao, L. (2017). The cytoplasmic translocation of Cx32 mediates cisplatin resistance in ovarian cancer cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 487(2), 292–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.04.053
- Wu, X., Hu, A., Zhang, M., & Chen, Z. (2013). Effects of Rab27a on proliferation, invasion, and anti-apoptosis in human glioma cell. *Tumor Biology*, 34(4), 2195–2203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-013-0756-5
- Xie, W., Sun, H., Li, X., Lin, F., Wang, Z., & Wang, X. (2021). Ovarian cancer: epigenetics, drug resistance, and progression. *Cancer Cell International*, 21(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12935-021-02136-y
- Xu, J., Yang, K. C., Go, N. E., Colborne, S., Ho, C. J., Hosseini-Beheshti, E., Lystad, A. H., Simonsen, A., Guns, E. T., Morin, G. B., & Gorski, S. M. (2022). Chloroquine treatment induces secretion of autophagy-related proteins and inclusion of Atg8-family proteins in distinct extracellular vesicle populations. *Autophagy*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2022.2039535
- Xu, Y., Wang, C., Su, J., Xie, Q., Ma, L., Zeng, L., Yu, Y., Liu, S., Li, S., Li, Z., & Sun, L. (2015). Tolerance to endoplasmic reticulum stress mediates cisplatin resistance in human ovarian cancer cells by maintaining endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondrial homeostasis. *Oncology Reports*, 34(6), 3051– 3060. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2015.4283
- Y, L., & J, W. (2021). Sorafenib-Induced Exosome Secretion Promotes Chemotherapy Resistance in Hepatoma Cell Line. Japanese Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 06(12), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.47829/JJGH.2021.61203
- Yamamoto, A., Tagawa, Y., Yoshimori, T., Moriyama, Y., Masaki, R., & Tashiro,
  Y. (1998). Bafilomycin A1 Prevents Maturation of Autophagic Vacuoles by
  Inhibiting Fusion between Autophagosomes and Lysosomes in Rat
  Hepatoma Cell Line, H-4-II-E Cells. *Cell Structure and Function*, 23(1), 33–
  42. https://doi.org/10.1247/csf.23.33

- Yamamoto, T., Nakayama, J., Yamamoto, Y., Kuroda, M., Hattori, Y., & Ochiya, T. (2022). SORT1/LAMP2-mediated Extracellular Vesicle Secretion and Cell Adhesion Are Linked to Lenalidomide Resistance in Multiple Myeloma. *Blood Advances*. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2021005772
- Yang, C., & Wang, X. (2021). Lysosome biogenesis: Regulation and functions. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 220(6), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.202102001
- Yu, F., Wu, W., Liang, M., Huang, Y., & Chen, C. (2020). Prognostic Significance of Rab27A and Rab27B Expression in Esophageal Squamous Cell Cancer. *Cancer Management and Research, Volume 12*, 6353–6361. https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S258940
- Yu, S., Cao, H., Shen, B., & Feng, J. (2015). Tumor-derived exosomes in cancer progression and treatment failure. *Oncotarget*, 6(35), 37151–37168. https://doi.org/10.1021/mp200612n
- Yuan, S., Norgard, R. J., & Stanger, B. Z. (2019). Cellular plasticity in cancer. *Cancer Discovery*, 9(7), 837–851. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0015
- Zampieri, L. X., Grasso, D., Bouzin, C., Brusa, D., Rossignol, R., & Sonveaux, P. (2020). Mitochondria Participate in Chemoresistance to Cisplatin in Human Ovarian Cancer Cells. *Molecular Cancer Research*, *18*(9), 1379–1391. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-19-1145
- Zeller, C., Dai, W., Steele, N. L., Siddiq, A., Walley, A. J., Wilhelm-Benartzi, C. S. M., Rizzo, S., Van Der Zee, A., Plumb, J. A., & Brown, R. (2012). Candidate DNA methylation drivers of acquired cisplatin resistance in ovarian cancer identified by methylome and expression profiling. *Oncogene*, *31*(42), 4567–4576. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.611
- Zerial, M., & McBride, H. (2001). Rab proteins as membrane organizers. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 2(2), 107–117. https://doi.org/10.1038/35052055
- Zhai, X., & El Hiani, Y. (2020). Getting lost in the cell–lysosomal entrapment of chemotherapeutics. *Cancers*, *12*(12), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12123669

- Zhang, He-da, Jiang, L.-H., Hou, J.-C., Zhong, S.-L., Zhu, L.-P., Wang, D.-D., Zhou, S.-Y., Yang, S.-J., Wang, J.-Y., Zhang, Q., Xu, H.-Z., Zhao, J.-H., Ji, Z.-L., & Tang, J.-H. (2018). Exosome: a novel mediator in drug resistance of cancer cells. *Epigenomics*, *10*(11), 1499–1509. https://doi.org/10.2217/epi-2017-0151
- Zhang, Huarui, Lu, J., Liu, J., Zhang, G., & Lu, A. (2020). Advances in the discovery of exosome inhibitors in cancer. *Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry*, 35(1), 1322–1330. https://doi.org/10.1080/14756366.2020.1754814
- Zhang, J., Tan, J., Wang, M., Wang, Y., Dong, M., Ma, X., Sun, B., Liu, S., Zhao, Z., Chen, L., Liu, K., Xin, Y., & Zhuang, L. (2021). Lipid-induced DRAM recruits STOM to lysosomes and induces LMP to promote exosome release from hepatocytes in NAFLD. *Science Advances*, 7(45). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abh1541
- Zhang, Y., Tao, L., Fan, L. X., Huang, K., Luo, H. M., Ge, H., Wang, X., & Wang, Q. (2019). Cx32 mediates cisplatin resistance in human ovarian cancer cells by affecting drug efflux transporter expression and activating the EGFR-Akt pathway. *Molecular Medicine Reports*, 19(3), 2287–2296. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2019.9876
- Zhang, Z., Yue, P., Lu, T., Wang, Y., Wei, Y., & Wei, X. (2021). Role of lysosomes in physiological activities, diseases, and therapy. *Journal of Hematology and Oncology*, *14*(1), 1–39. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-021-01087-1
- Zhen, Y., & Stenmark, H. (2015). Cellular functions of Rab GTPases at a glance. *Journal of Cell Science*, *128*(17), 3171–3176. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.166074
- Zhitomirsky, B., & Assaraf, Y. G. (2016). Lysosomes as mediators of drug resistance in cancer. *Drug Resistance Updates*, 24, 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drup.2015.11.004

## 9 PUBLICATIONS

<u>Cerda-Troncoso C.</u> Arias-Muñoz E., Cavieres VA, Gaete-Ramírez B., Álvarez-Astudillo F., Varas-Godoy M, and Burgos PV. **RAB27A-dependent exosome** secretion in response to lysosomal degradative dysfunction mediates chemoresistance to cisplatin in ovarian cancer. (*Manuscript in preparation*).

Vargas G., Cortés O., Arias-Muñoz E., Hernández S., <u>Cerda-Troncoso C.</u>, Hernández L., González AE., Tatham MH., Bustamante H., Retamal C., Cancino J., Varas-Godoy M., Hay RT., Rojas-Fernandez A., Cavieres VA., Burgos PV. Negative modulation of macroautophagy by stabilized HERPUD1 is counteracted by an increased ER-lysosomal network with impact in druginduced stress cell survival. Front Cell Dev Biol. 10:1-12 (2022). doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2022.743287.

<u>Cerda-Troncoso C.</u>, Varas-Godoy M. and Burgos PV. **Pro-Tumoral Functions** of Autophagy Receptors in the Modulation of Cancer Progression. Front. Oncol. 10:1-7 (2021). 10.3389/fonc.2020.619727.

Cavieres VA.<sup>¶</sup>, <u>Cerda-Troncoso C.<sup>¶</sup></u>, Rivera-Dictter A., Castro RI., Luchsinger C., Santibáñez N., Burgos PV., and Mardones GA. Human Golgi phosphoprotein **3 is a non-canonical effector of RAB1A and RAB1B**. These authors contributed equally to this work. PLoS One. 15(8): e0237514 (2020). 10.1371/journal.pone.0237514.

Bustamante HA., Cereceda K., González AE., Valenzuela GE., Cheuquemilla Y., Hernández S., Arias-Muñoz E., <u>Cerda-Troncoso C.</u>, Bandau S., Soza A., Kausel G., Kerr B., Mardones GA., Cancino J., Hay RT, Rojas-Fernandez A. and Burgos PV. The Proteasomal Deubiquitinating Enzyme PSMD14 Regulates Macroautophagy by Controlling Golgi-to-ER Retrograde Transport. Cells. 9(3):777 (2020). 10.3390/cells9030777. Bustamante HA, González AE, <u>Cerda-Troncoso C</u>, Shaughnessy R, Otth C, Soza A and Burgos PV. Interplay between Autophagy and the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System: a target for Alzheimer's disease therapeutic development. Front Cell Neurosci. 12(May):1-8 (2018). 10.3389/fncel.2018.00126.